

University of Iowa Iowa Research Online

Theses and Dissertations

2010

The role and regulation of small conductance CA2+ activated K+ channel subtype 3 in myometrial contraction and placental development

Stephanie Lynn Pierce University of Iowa

Copyright 2010 Stephanie Lynn Pierce

This dissertation is available at Iowa Research Online: http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/1059

Recommended Citation

Pierce, Stephanie Lynn. "The role and regulation of small conductance CA2+ activated K+ channel subtype 3 in myometrial contraction and placental development." PhD (Doctor of Philosophy) thesis, University of Iowa, 2010. http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd/1059.

Follow this and additional works at: http://ir.uiowa.edu/etd

Part of the <u>Biophysics Commons</u>

THE ROLE AND REGULATION OF SMALL CONDUCTANCE CA²⁺ ACTIVATED K⁺ CHANNEL SUBTYPE 3 IN MYOMETRIAL CONTRACTION AND PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT

by Stephanie Lynn Pierce

An Abstract

Of a thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Molecular Physiology and Biophysics in the Graduate College of The University of Iowa

May 2010

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Sarah K. England

ABSTRACT

SK3 channels contribute to membrane repolarization and hyperpolarization that leads to both relaxation of smooth muscle and vascular branching. These two distinct properties are intensified in the SK3^{T/T} mice possibly influencing pregnancy by dampening uterine contractions and causing dysfunctional placental development. SK3^{T/T} mice have delayed or hindered parturition, suggesting a role for SK3 channels in labor contractions (Chapter 2 & 3). Based on these findings, we hypothesized that SK3 channel expression must be reduced late in normal pregnancy to enable the uterus to produce the forceful contractions required for parturition. The mechanism(s) downregulating this channel in the uterus during pregnancy is unknown. The SK3 gene promoter region contains two Specificity Protein (Sp) binding sites; Sp1, a transcription factor that enhances transcription of genes in response to estrogen, and Sp3, a factor that competes for the same binding motif as Sp1 to reduce gene expression (Chapter 4). SK3 channels may also be involved in the vascular remodeling that occurs during pregnancy. The SK3 channel is present in vascular endothelial cells and overexpression of this channel leads to abnormal vessel branching and an increase in vessel diameter. During pregnancy, the vascular system must adapt to accommodate dramatic increases in blood volume necessary to sustain the developing fetus. Overexpression of SK3 channels could produce abnormalities in the placental vascular network, similar to the abnormal vessel branching and vasodilatation found in the mesenteric circulation, thus leading to poor fetal outcome (Chapter 5). The aim of this research was to determine the function of the SK3 channel in pregnancy by focusing on its role in myometrial contractility in addition to identifying its role in remodeling the maternal vasculature and its impact on placental blood flow and fetal demise.

Abstract Approved:

Thesis Supervisor

Title and Department

Date

_

THE ROLE AND REGULATION OF SMALL CONDUCTANCE CA²⁺ ACTIVATED K⁺ CHANNEL SUBTYPE 3 IN MYOMETRIAL CONTRACTION AND PLACENTAL DEVELOPMENT

by

Stephanie Lynn Pierce

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Molecular Physiology and Biophysics in the Graduate College of The University of Iowa

May 2010

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Sarah K. England

Copyright by

STEPHANIE LYNN PIERCE

2010

All Rights Reserved

Graduate College The University of Iowa Iowa City, Iowa

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

PH.D. THESIS

This is to certify that the Ph.D. thesis of

Stephanie Lynn Pierce

has been approved by the Examining Committee for the thesis requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Molecular Physiology and Biophysics at the May 2010 graduation.

Thesis Committee:

Sarah K. England, Thesis Supervisor

Kevin Campbell

Mark Chapleau

Jeffrey Murray

Thomas Schmidt

To Dad, for instilling in me the love of biology at a young age. I can only imagine the discussions we would have now. Because of your sacrifices, you gave me the opportunity to accomplish anything.

"When I had that (super-intelligence) there was too much pressure to use it. All I want out of life is to be a monkey of moderate intelligence who wears a suit. That's why I've decided to transfer to business school!"

Gunther Futurama

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank my advisor, Sarah England for all that she has taught me in my graduate career. I appreciate the extensive time and effort she put forth on a constant basis. Every mentor-student relationship is unique and I was lucky to find a mentor that cared enough to push me in the right direction and do her best to make me a great scientist like her.

I also thank the members of the England lab, past and present. Their advice and assistance were an integral part of my success in research, without them I would have accomplished little. I also thank our collaborators, the members of the Lamping lab, who guided me with several experiments, especially Dan Nuno who patiently taught me how to set-up the vascular reactivity studies. Dr, Kathy Lamping has been a second mentor to me and her voice of reason will stay with me throughout my career.

I thank my committee members, Drs. Kevin Campbell, Mark Chapleau, Jeff Murray, and Tom Schmidt for their advice and guidance in pursuing my doctorate. I also send my gratitude to the Molecular Physiology and Biophysics department and our Graduate Student Advisor for all of their assistance and the opportunity to work in this department.

I want to thank those that contributed to experiments. I thank Dr. Bob Weiss for the ultrasound imaging. I thank Dr. Rafael Cabeza for statistical advice and performing the Fast Fourier Transform calculations for the telemetry data. Bill Kutschke for his technical assistance with the telemetry system. I also thank Dr. David Meyerholz for histological analysis of the placental slides.

I thank my friends and family. My family, especially my Mom, I thank for understanding how busy I have been and their never-ending support and love. I thank my friends for the great times throughout graduate school as well as keeping me sane through stressful moments. And finally, a special thanks to my boyfriend, Seth, and my puppy, Aramis for always being wonderful to come home to.

iv

ABSTRACT

SK3 channels contribute to membrane repolarization and hyperpolarization that leads to both relaxation of smooth muscle and vascular branching. These two distinct properties are intensified in the SK3^{T/T} mice possibly influencing pregnancy by dampening uterine contractions and causing dysfunctional placental development. SK3^{T/T} mice have delayed or hindered parturition, suggesting a role for SK3 channels in labor contractions (Chapter 2 & 3). Based on these findings, we hypothesized that SK3 channel expression must be reduced late in normal pregnancy to enable the uterus to produce the forceful contractions required for parturition. The mechanism(s) downregulating this channel in the uterus during pregnancy is unknown. The SK3 gene promoter region contains two Specificity Protein (Sp) binding sites; Sp1, a transcription factor that enhances transcription of genes in response to estrogen, and Sp3, a factor that competes for the same binding motif as Sp1 to reduce gene expression (Chapter 4). SK3 channels may also be involved in the vascular remodeling that occurs during pregnancy. The SK3 channel is present in vascular endothelial cells and overexpression of this channel leads to abnormal vessel branching and an increase in vessel diameter. During pregnancy, the vascular system must adapt to accommodate dramatic increases in blood volume necessary to sustain the developing fetus. Overexpression of SK3 channels could produce abnormalities in the placental vascular network, similar to the abnormal vessel branching and vasodilatation found in the mesenteric circulation, thus leading to poor fetal outcome (Chapter 5). The aim of this research was to determine the function of the SK3 channel in pregnancy by focusing on its role in myometrial contractility in addition to identifying its role in remodeling the maternal vasculature and its impact on placental blood flow and fetal demise.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	1
Uterine structure and growth during pregnancy	1
Studying mouse models of parturition	1 2
Uterine smooth muscle excitability	2
Potassium channels and myometrial relaxation	5 5
SK family of ion channels	5 6
SK3 channels and uterine function	0
Transcriptional regulation of KCNN3	8
The placenta and maternal vasculature	9
K ⁺ channels in vascular remodeling and dilation	12
SK3 channels in the development of the maternal vasculature of the	
placenta	13
CHAPTER 2 - OVEREXPRESSION OF SK3 CHANNELS DAMPENS	
UTERINE CONTRACTILITY TO PREVENT PRETERM LABOR IN	
MICE	24
	24
Abstract	24
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Animals	
Extraction of KINA and real-time PCK	
Isometric tension recordings	
Immunoblotting	
Induction of preterm labor	29 20
Statistical analysis	30
Results	30
SK3 expression in pregnant mice	30
K^+ current in myometrial smooth muscle cells	30
Uterine contractility in mice during late-stage pregnancy	
Deliveries after induction of preterm labor	
Discussion	32
UIUO = A NEW ADDOACH FOR STUDYING DADTIDITION IN	
VIVO: A NEW APPROACH FOR STUDYING PARTURITION IN	15
MOUSE MODELS	43
Abstract	45
Introduction	46
Methods	47
Animals	47

	Surgical procedure	48
	Induction of preterm labor in WT mice	48
	Data acquisition and statistical analysis	49
	Results	50
	Intrauterine pressure increases during labor in WT mice	50
	Induced preterm labor leads to increased intrauterine pressure	51
	Mouse model of delayed labor exhibits reduced intrauterine	
	pressure during labor cycle	52
	Power spectrum analysis of intrauterine pressure during pre-labor	
	and labor in WT and SK3 ^{1/1} mice	53
	Discussion	53
CHAPTER	. 4 - SK3 CHANNEL EXPRESSION DURING PREGNANCY IS	
	REGULATED THROUGH ESTROGEN AND SP FACTOR-	
	MEDIATED TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF THE KCNN3	70
	GENE	/3
	A la stra st	72
	ADSUTACI	/ 3
	Introduction	/4
	Materials and methods	13
	Human tiggue collection	13
	Immunohlotting	73 76
	Design of SK3 promoter construct	70
	SI 2 transfection and bioluminescence imaging	70
	Transfection of adherent human myometrial cells	···· / / 77
	RNA Isolation and aPCR analysis	/ / 78
	Ovariectomy and F2 pellet implantation of C57BL/6 mice	78
	Statistical analysis	70
	Results	79
	The Sp1 Sp3 protein ratio shifts during mouse gestation	79
	KCNN3 promoter activation in mouse is regulated by the Sp1 Sp3	
	protein ratio	79
	SK3 expression decreases in estrogen treated mice	80
	Uterine SK3 channel expression decreases during pregnancy in	
	humans	80
	SK3 channel expression increases in estrogen-treated hMSMCs	
	overexpressing Sp1	81
	Discussion	82
CHAPTER	5 - OVEREXPRESSION OF SK3 CHANNELS INDUCES	
	MATERNAL VASCULAR AND PLACENTAL ABNORMALITIES	
	LEADING TO FETAL DEMISE	95
	Abstract	95
	Introduction	96
	Methods	97
	Mouse breeding.	97
	Vieasurement of uterine artery reactivity	9/
	Litter counts and ultrasound imaging of fetal viability	98
	Measurement of fotal and placental weights	98 00
	Vicasurement or retar and pracental weights	98
	Massurement of ovidative stress in placente	77 00
	זיוים אוינים א	79

Results	
Larger basal diameter and reduced vasoconstriction in SK3 ^{T/T}	
uterine arteries	99
SK3 ^{T/T} mice yield fewer pups per litter	100
Normal blood pressure measurements but increased heart rate in	
transgenic mice	100
Placental weight increased but fetal weight normal in SK3 ^{T/T}	101
Morphologic abnormalities detected in SK3 ^{T/T} placentas	101
Oxidative stress levels were similar between WT and SK3 ^{T/T} mice	102
Discussion	102
CHAPTER 6 - CONCLUSIONS	118
The HPA axis and the timing of labor	118
The decidua and rupture of membranes	120
Overdistension and uterine stretch	121
Intrauterine infection and the inflammatory pathway	122
Implantation and the decidua	124
Impact	125
r	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	131

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Genetically altered mouse models of parturition	17
Table 2.1: Success rate of delivery	36
Table 4.1: SK3 channel levels increase with Sp1 overexpression and E2 treatment	94

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: 1	Uterine transition during labor	15
Figure 1.2: S	SK Channel structure.	18
Figure 1.3: S	Similarities and differences between human and mouse placenta	20
Figure 1.4: I	Potassium channels in vasodilation	22
Figure 2.1: 1	Downregulation of SK3 in mouse uteri towards term	37
Figure 2.2: 0	Contribution of SK3 channels to myometrial cell K ⁺ current	39
Figure 2.3:	Spontaneous contractions of uterine strips from WT, SK3 ^{T/T} , and SK3 ^{DOX} mice	41
Figure 2.4:	Average tension devlopment of uterine strips and progesterone levels after LPS injection	43
Figure 3.1: S	Surgical procedure for implanint uterine telemetry transmitters	57
Figure 3.2: 0	Continuous recording of intrauterine pressure	59
Figure 3.3: (Comparison of <i>in vivo</i> and <i>in vitro</i> recordings from mice during pregnancy	61
Figure 3.4: 1	Fold change in baseline intrauterine pressure, as measured by telemetry, in WT mice during pregnancy	63
Figure 3.5: 1	Intrauterine pressure (hourly average) during induced preterm labor in WT mice.	65
Figure 3.6: 1	Baseline intrauterine pressure (hourly average) during pregnancy in SK3 ^{T/T} versus WT mice	67
Figure 3.7: 1	Hourly average of SK3 ^{T/T} intrauterine pressure during delivery	69
Figure 3.8: 1	Power spectrum of intrauterine pressure during the 12 hours before delivery and the 12 hours in which delivery occurred	71
Figure 4.1: Y	Western blot analysis of whole-cell lysates from mouse uteri	86
Figure 4.2: S	Sp2 competes with Sp1 to decrease SK3 promoter activation	88
Figure 4.3: 1	Estrogen depletion reduces SK3 channel expression in mouse uteri	90
Figure 4.4: 1	Decrease in SK3 channel expression in human uteri at term	92
Figure 5.1: 1	Responses of uterine arteries from NP WT and SK3 ^{T/T} mice1	.06
Figure 5.2: 1	Litter size of WT and SK3 ^{T/T} mice during different stages of pregnancy 1	08

Figure 5.3: Measurements of heart rate and blood pressure by tailcuff in during gestation in WT and SK3 ^{T/T} mice	NP and110
Figure 5.4: Placental and fetal weights at P18	112
Figure 5.5: H&E staining of placenta from P18 WT and SK3 ^{T/T} mice	114
Figure 5.6: Measurement of oxidative stress in placenta from WT and S	K3 ^{T/T} mice 116
Figure 6.1: Schematic of the four intersection pathways to preterm deliv	ery 127
Figure 6.2: Overcrowding of fetuses in SK3 ^{T/T} uterus	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACTH - corticotropin

- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- BK channel large conductance calcium activated potassium channel
- cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- CBD calmodulin binding domain
- CRE cAMP response elements
- CRH corticotropin releasing hormone
- $CRHR\alpha$ CRH receptor alpha
- DHEAS dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate
- DOX doxycycline
- E2 17β-estradiol
- EC₅₀ half maximal effective concentration
- EDHF endothelium-dependent hyperpolarizing factor
- $ER\alpha$ estrogen receptor alpha
- GAPDH glyceraldehyde 3-phospate dehydrogenase
- GTP guanosine triphosphate
- GWAS Genome-Wide Association Study
- H&E hematoxylin and eosin staining
- hMSMC human myometrial smooth muscle cell
- HPA hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis
- HR heart rate
- IC₅₀ half maximal inhibitory concentration
- ICAM-1 intercellular adhesion molecule 1
- IK1 intermediate conductance calcium activated potassium channel
- KCNN3 gene for small conductance calcium activated potassium channel subtype 3

Kcnn3^{tm1Jpad}/Kcnn3^{tm1Jpad} - transgenic mouse over-expressing the small conductance calcium-activated potassium channel subtype 3 (also abbreviated as SK3^{T/T})

Kv Channel - Shaker-like voltage-gated potassium channels

- L uterine samples from human Cesarean section patients at term and in labor
- L-type Long lasting Ca²⁺ channels
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- MSMCs myometrial smooth muscle cells
- N number of animals.
- NL uterine samples from human Cesarean section patients at term and not in labor
- NP non-pregnant
- P pregnancy day
- P4 progesterone
- PG prostaglandin
- PP2 two days postpartum
- PR progesterone receptor
- PPROM preterm premature rupture of membranes
- PTD preterm delivery
- PTL preterm labor
- qPCR real time (quantitative) PCR
- RU486 mifepristone, progesterone receptor antagonist
- SBP systolic blood pressure
- SEM standard error of the mean
- SK small conductance calcium activated potassium channel
- SK1 small conductance calcium activated potassium channel subtype one
- SK2 small conductance calcium activated potassium channel subtype two
- SK3 small conductance calcium activated potassium channel subtype three
- SK3^{DOX} functional SK3 knockout mouse (SK3^{T/T} fed doxycyline)

SK3^{T/T} - the SK3 overexpressing transgenic mouse

SL2 - Schneider's *Drosophila* cell line 2

SMC - smooth muscle cell

Sp - Specificity Protein

Sp3li - specificity protein 3 long isoform

Sp3si - specificity protein 3 short isoform

T-type - transient Ca²⁺ channels

WT - wild-type

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Uterine structure and growth during pregnancy

The uterus is the reproductive organ responsible for protecting the fetus as it grows and develops, along with providing the primary force necessary for labor and delivery. The uterine wall consists of three main layers, 1) the serosa on the external surface, 2) the myometrium that consists of smooth muscle, and 3) the endometrium which is the innermost layer of glandular tissue. Anatomically the uterus is divided into two regions: the fundus and the lower uterine segment. The division of these two regions becomes more visually and functionally apparent as pregnancy progresses, as the fundus becomes more contractile and the lower uterine segment remains passive (Figure 1.1). The myometrium is organized in multiple circular and longitudinal smooth muscle layers, having divergent contractile properties (133). The smooth muscle component of the myometrial layer contains thick and thin filament bundles arranged throughout the cell. This gives these cells the ability to exert force in multiple directions sufficient for delivery.

Throughout gestation, both high progesterone levels and mechanical stretch initiate pathways to promote uterine growth. During pregnancy the myometrium transitions through four stages of development (140). In early gestation, smooth muscle cells rapidly proliferate, thus increasing the size and thickness of the uterus. Second, the myometrium enters a synthesis phase, in which myocytes stop proliferating and begin to hypertrophy, again increasing the size of the uterus. The myometrium then transitions to a third phase when there is an increased synthesis of contractile proteins in preparation for labor. During the fourth phase, labor, the uterus begins coordinated contractions in order to deliver the fetus.

Studying mouse models of parturition

Preterm deliveries alone account for over 12.6% of all births in the U.S., and they are associated with perinatal morbidity and mortality (15). Despite increased medical intervention over the past 30 years, the rate of preterm births has risen by 28%—with most of these births occurring in women who do not have any of the known risk factors. Four distinct processes, which activate multiple signaling pathways, lead to preterm birth: early activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, uterine overdistension, decidual bleeding, and intrauterine inflammation/infection (141). Despite differences in human versus mouse parturition, both species exhibit similarities in these processes that modify pregnancy outcomes (123). With their short gestation period and convenience of genetic manipulation, mouse models are increasingly important in the study of specific genes in pregnancy. To date, genetically modified mouse models have identified genes and proteins essential for parturition to progress in mice, many affecting multiple pathways of parturition (Table 1.1).

One key argument against the use of mouse models for the study of parturition is the role of progesterone (P4). In mice, the corpus lutea provides the main source of P4 (the placenta is the main source in humans after the first trimester) and at the end of pregnancy increased prostaglandins cause the corpus lutea to be degraded. The large drop in progesterone in mice removes the inhibition of contraction-promoting pathways causing parturition to occur (147). While serum progesterone levels do not drop in humans at the time of delivery, a functional progesterone withdrawal is thought to occur via one or more mechanisms such as a decrease in progesterone receptor coactivators and/or an increase in the ratio of lower affinity P4 receptors (24, 100). Thus mouse models with altered progesterone synthesis like the cyclooxygenase-1 knockout mouse which has a delayed labor phenotype, may help elucidate the mechanisms progesterone regulates throughout gestation (48). A mouse model that targets another crucial component of parturition, cervical ripening, have been generated. In steroid 5α -reductase type 1 deficient mice, the cervix fails to ripen at term, delaying delivery (91). An aspect of parturition gaining interest is the influence of circadian rhythms on pregnancy. Humans (and mice) frequently deliver at night arguing that circadian influence plays a role in labor initiation (58). Parturition is disrupted in the clock mutant mouse model emphasizing the importance of circadian rhythm on hormone secretion in the progression of labor (103). Study of mouse models that are resistant to infection-induced labor, such as the Toll receptor 4 mutant, provides insights into the inflammatory/infection-induced pathways involved in human preterm labor (159). In summary, genes targeted in mouse models of parturition can be used to understand the important components of labor initiation and progression that may apply to human studies.

Progesterone withdrawal, cervical ripening, circadian rhythm, and infection are all important components of preterm and full term parturition, but in order for labor to progress, the uterus must contract adequately for delivery to occur. Mouse models targeting genes that could potentially lead to an attenuation of uterine contraction include the oxytocin and oxytocin receptor gene-deleted mice. However, these mice have normal parturition suggesting that these pathways are not essential for labor in the mouse (112, 150). Other genetically altered mouse models, including the myometrial connexin43 knockout, 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase knockout and the SK3 channel overexpressing mouse, have significant parturition defects (123). For example, connexin 43 and gap junction formation are essential to parturition since lack of this protein results in delayed delivery (32, 155). It is likely that multiple genes contribute to the ability of the uterus to contract synchronously, and some of these genes are a factor in redundant pathways.

Uterine smooth muscle excitability

The parturition defect in the SK3 overexpressing mice is consistent with the belief that dampening myometrial cell excitability prevents preterm labor (10, 133, 142). The

regulation of myometrial smooth muscle excitability is similar to other smooth muscle where Ca^{2+} is the main determinant of membrane depolarization as well as the signaling molecule for contractile machinery (Figure 1.1) (96, 139, 163). L-type (long-lasting) Ca^{2+} channels conduct the majority of Ca^{2+} influx for myometrial depolarization (163). This induces release of Ca^{2+} from the sarcoplasmic reticulum thereby increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ levels. Calcium binds to calmodulin, which activates myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) (108). Activated MLCK phosphorylates myosin allowing it to bind to actin, resulting in contraction. Close to the time of labor, there is an upregulation of proteins, such as oxytocin and prostaglandin receptors, that drive excitationcontraction coupling forward, leading to more coordinated and stronger contractions (139, 142). Less is known about the role of the T-type (transient) Ca^{2+} channel in this process, but they are present in the uterus and could contribute to pacemaker activity of the myometrial cells (51, 164). Na^+ channels also contribute, but to a lesser extent than Ca^{2+} channels, to membrane depolarization and action potential initiation at term. They are also theorized to be responsible for pacemaker potentials and for setting the rhythmic timing of action potentials, although this has not been demonstrated experimentally (59, 144). Following depolarization of uterine myocytes by opening of Ca^{2+} and Na^{+} channels, which produce rapid spikes on top of slow waves, Cl⁻ channels open. Cl⁻ channels have been implicated in the plateau phase of action potentials detected near term (114, 166).

While much attention is placed on the excitatory and contractile mechanisms of uterine myocytes, the buffering of cell excitability, which induces myometrial relaxation, is equally important since the uterus must remain in a relaxed and quiescent state to allow the fetus time to grow and develop. The repolarization of myometrial smooth muscle cells is predominantly due to K^+ efflux through K^+ channels (Figure 1.1) (75, 164). During this phase, uterine myocytes are maintained in a quiescent phase due to inhibition of contractile pathways. For example, GTP-binding proteins (G α s) act to reduce

contractility. Activation of these GTP-binding proteins elevates the levels of cAMP and activates protein kinase A (38, 142). This also results in activation of phosphatases that inactivate myosin light chain kinase, and reduce myocyte contractions. As pregnancy progresses, these GTP-binding proteins are downregulated to allow transition from a relaxed to a contractile state at parturition (36, 37).

Myometrial excitability can change with modifications in ion channel density. During pregnancy, the membrane potential is maintained at -60 mV and eventually increases to -45 mV near the end of term (133, 134). The exact mechanisms behind this change in membrane potential are unknown although increases in both Ca^{2+} and Na^+ channel density and activity, or decreases in K^+ channel density and activity are distinct possibilities. Studies show that K^+ channels decrease in density at term while Ca^{2+} channel density increases near term (27, 154). These changes in channel density are conducive for uterine myocytes to reach threshold and elicit an action potential. Depolarizations of the myometrium transition from small irregular spikes to rhythmic sustained activity at term (133, 134). This transition in electrical activity is necessary to elicit excitability changes that will lead to an increase in the intensity of myometrial contractions sufficient to induce delivery. Both Ca^{2+} and K^+ channels are potential targets for aberrant uterine activity. This dissertation will focus on the role of K^+ channels.

Potassium channels and myometrial relaxation

One of the main determinants of uterine quiescence is activity of K^+ channels in the myometrium (71, 86). Potassium channels generate repolarizing and hyperpolarizing currents in myometrial smooth muscle cells (MSMCs), contributing significantly to uterine quiescence (19, 85). Accordingly, the regulation of the activities of these channels becomes inherently important as pregnancy progresses to maintain myometrial quiescence until contractions are necessary. The level of expression of K⁺ channels in the myometrium changes dynamically throughout pregnancy (68, 86, 97, 98). The K⁺ channels most intensely studied in terms of their role in pregnancy are the largeconductance calcium- and voltage-sensitive K⁺ channel, the ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel, the *Shaker*-like voltage-gated K⁺ channels and the small conductance calcium-activated K⁺ isoform 3 (KCNN3, also known as SK3) channels. Although the expression of other K⁺ channels changes throughout pregnancy, SK3 channels are the first channels for which over-expression leads to a delay or cessation of parturition (8). K⁺ channels are important components of uterine relaxation early in pregnancy, and their shift in function and density at term allow for contractions forceful enough for delivery.

SK family of ion channels

The SK family (SK1, SK2, and SK3) of small conductance (~10 pS) calcium activated K⁺ channels are expressed in most excitable cells (7). First characterized in neuronal cells, SK channels are responsible for the after-hyperpolarization following an action potential. Activation of SK channels is dependent on intracellular Ca²⁺ (EC₅₀ = 0.3μ M) and the long lasting hyperpolarization produced by these channels is consistent with the decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration following an action potential (131). This SK-induced hyperpolarization leads to inhibition of cell firing and limits burst frequency of neurons. Unlike other K⁺ channels, the SK family is voltage insensitive. While SK channels share a similar structure as voltage-activated K⁺ channels, they only share sequence homology with the pore region (Figure 1.2) (73). Among the family of SK channels themselves, there is extensive (80-90%) homology, excluding the N- and Cterminal regions, accounting for the differences between family members (73).

Another defining property of SK channels is their sensitivity to apamin, a peptide in bee venom, which blocks the channel. The three members of the SK family, SK1, SK2, and SK3, vary in their apamin sensitivity. SK1 is apamin insensitive, while SK2 is the most sensitive to apamin ($IC_{50} = 60$ pM) and SK3 is moderately sensitive to apamin $(IC_{50} = 10 \text{ nM apamin})$ (59). Two amino acid residues, an aspartic acid and an asparagine, within the pore region are responsible for the variation in apamin sensitivity (Figure 1.2): SK1 has neither residue making it apamin-insensitive, while SK2 contains both residues making it very sensitive. SK3 contains only the aspartic acid residue accounting for its moderate apamin-sensitivity levels (59).

Unlike the large conductance Ca^{2+} activated K⁺ channel, SK channels do not contain a direct Ca^{2+} -binding region. Rather they have a calmodulin-binding domain (CBD), which is essential for trafficking of the channel to the membrane (165). When Ca^{2+} binds the CBD, the channel undergoes a conformational change, causing opening of the channel, K⁺ efflux, and membrane repolarization (165). The functional significance of one of the members of this family, SK3, was identified after John Adelman's Laboratory at the Vollum Institute created the SK3 over-expressing mouse (SK3^{T/T}) (8).

SK3 channels and uterine function

The SK3^{T/T} mouse, a transgenic knock-in animal that contains a tetracyclinebased genetic cassette, reversibly eliminates expression of the SK3 channel with doxycycline (DOX) treatment (8). DOX treatment of SK3^{T/T} mice generates a functional SK3 knockout, which does not result in a visible phenotypic change. SK3^{T/T} mice have a ~3-fold increase in SK3 transcript levels compared to wild-type mice. SK3 channels are expressed in many tissues, including the brain, heart, kidneys, and uterus (126). Despite this, the most notable phenotype of SK3^{T/T} mice was the parturition defect in 70% of mice, of which 40% had delayed delivery and 60% could not deliver at all (8). The heterozygous and DOX-treated SK3^{T/T} (SK3^{DOX}) mice delivered all fetuses on the appropriate gestational day. Interestingly, although expressed in the myometrium, overexpression of SK2 channels does not result in abnormal parturition (Adelman, personal communication). Functionally, these channels hyperpolarize smooth muscle cells, dampening the cell's ability to produce an action potential by increasing the electronegativity of the membrane. These mice demonstrate that SK3 channel overexpression and its functional hyperpolarizing capability play an important role in myometrial excitability and are in agreement with other studies showing that suppression of the repolarizing SK3 channel expression increases phasic contractions in urinary smooth muscle cells (53). Thus, a 2 to 3-fold increase in SK3 channels in the uterus results in reduced uterine excitability at the time of labor. These studies also indicated that if a modest increase in SK3 channel expression results in labor dysfunction, it is likely that endogenous SK3 channel expression must be downregulated in the uterus of WT mice in order for successful delivery to occur. However, the mechanism responsible for regulation of endogenous SK3 expression is unknown.

Transcriptional regulation of KCNN3

Differential expression of the SK3 channel during pregnancy may result from promoter activity of the *KCNN3*. Factors that are important in pregnancy are known to regulate SK3 expression. For example, the sex hormone 17 β -estradiol (E2), which is required for the maintenance of pregnancy, modulates SK3 transcript expression in guinea pig brain and in an *in vitro* expression system (9, 60). Promoter analysis of the *KCNN3* gene demonstrated that this estrogen-driven enhancement of transcript expression occurs despite the fact that *KCNN3* does not contain an estrogen response element. The promoter region of *KCNN3* contains two GC-rich regions located -103 to -107 and -121 to -125 bps upstream of the transcription start site (60). GC-rich regions, like those in the *KCNN3* promoter, represent binding sites for Specificity Protein (Sp) transcription factors (118, 135, 146). Estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) enhances the ability of Sp factors to bind to DNA. *KCNN3* transcription is increased in the presence of Sp1, and mutational analysis has shown that Sp binding sites on the SK3 promoter are necessary for ER α -mediated enhancement of SK3 expression (60). Sp transcription factors and estrogen may be important components of SK3 channel regulation during pregnancy.

Sp1 and Sp3 transcription factors are expressed ubiquitously, have the same DNA binding properties, and share a similar protein structure (12, 31). Sp1 is a transcriptional activator, whereas Sp3 activates or represses transcription depending on the environment of the promoter (31, 135). Sp3 has multiple isoforms, including a short isoform (Sp3si) that is transcriptionally inactive and a long isoform (Sp3li) whose activity can change based on the promoter context. Sp3 also contains an inhibitory domain located between two glutamine-rich activation domains, which can strongly activate transcription when the inhibitory domain is mutated (31). The inhibitory domain contains three charged amino acid residues, KEE, which are essential for Sp3 to repress transcription. Acetylation of lysine residues in Sp3 regulates this inhibitory domain *in vivo* (12). In the case of transcriptional regulation of SK3, there may be a modification in acetylation of Sp3 as well as a change in the ratio of competing transcription factors, Sp1 and Sp3, to reduce expression of SK3 channels. A reduction of these channels in the myometrium near term could enhance uterine contractility.

The placenta and maternal vasculature

The generation of the transgenic SK3 channel overexpressing mouse demonstrated that SK3 channels could play a role in uterine myocyte excitability leading to dampened contractility (8, 120). However, other physiological adaptations during pregnancy require the adequate function of ion channels, including the development of the placenta. An overabundance of the SK3 channel, which is expressed only in the endothelial layer of the vasculature and not in smooth muscle, could influence the development of the maternal-fetal vasculature and alter fetal blood flow.

The placenta is a specialized organ that provides nutrients necessary to sustain the fetus during development. It is a link, as well as a barrier, between mother and baby.

Both humans and mice have hemochorial placentation (Figure 1.3), where the maternal blood bathes the chorion and molecules transverse two fetal cell layers to enter the blood stream (107, 115). The hemochorial placenta allows for transfer of nutrients without direct contact of maternal and fetal blood, which protects the fetus from rejection by the maternal immune system. This is in contrast to epitheliochorial placentas found in sheep and pigs, in which maternal and fetal blood vessels are in close proximity to each other for nutrient diffusion (115). Epitheliochorial placentation is thought to be less efficient than hemochorial because it requires much greater inflow pressure (107). The large difference in perfusion pressure that develops between the two types of placentas creates differences in arterial remodeling between these species (115).

Upon fertilization, the blastocyst forms and the first cell line to differentiate is the trophoblast layer (130). In mice the outer epithelial layer of the blastocyst and the inner cell mass, which will form the embryo, develops by P3.5 (130). When implantation of the embryo occurs on P4.5, the trophoblast layer has already begun to differentiate (130). The epithelial cells on the opposite side of the inner cell mass stop dividing but continue DNA replication in order to form trophoblast giant cells (130). The trophoblast giant cells invade the maternal endometrium for implantation. In humans, uterine invasion occurs via extravillous cytotrophoblast cells, which are also polyploid but have fewer chromosome sets than the trophoblast giant cells found in mice (Figure 1.2) (5, 130). After implantation, trophoblast giant cells form around the entire parameter of the embryo (130). By P8.5 the allantois (a sac-like structure involved in nutrition and excretion) and the chorion make contact (130), which will eventually form the fetal vascular network of the placenta. Mice and humans share similar mechanisms for implantation and invasion of the uterus, which promotes proper formation of the maternal-fetal vasculature.

The fetal labyrinth, where maternal-fetal exchange occurs, is formed early on P9 following extensive branching from the chorion (forming the chorionic villi).

Vascularization of these villi occurs simultaneously (130). In humans, branching of the chorion and vascularization of these branches are separate events (18). The mouse fetal labyrinth is identical in function to the human chorionic villi and, in both species syncytiotrophoblast cells come in direct contact with maternal blood and surround the villi. In mice and humans, villi form in rounded structures called cotyledons, and while humans have multiple cotyledons, mice only have one (central canal) making their placenta discoid (130). Following formation of the placenta, maternal blood begins to transverse the placenta into the fetal blood stream around P10.5 in mice and 10-12 weeks in humans (1, 49).

Adamson et al 2002 performed a detailed study that utilized vascular casts and histological sections of the mouse placenta from P10.5 until term in order to map out the structure and progressive changes of the maternal vasculature through the developing placenta and its interaction with the fetal vasculature (1). Branches from the uterine artery called radial arteries supply the uterus. These radial arteries enter the myometrium near an implantation site and branch into 5-10 spiral arteries (1). During placental development, these spiral arteries lose smooth muscle and elastin, which decreases vascular tone and resistance (1). These spiral arteries cross the decidua and join to form 1-4 large canals with diameters between 300-600 μ m (1). Mice only have one central canal in the placenta (125), but Adamson et al found multiple canals in some cases possibly due to a variation between mouse strains or differences in histological protocol (1). Maternal blood from the central canals fills the villus spaces of the fetal labyrinth, which flows into the venous sinuses that enter veins through the decidua and into the radial and main uterine vein (1). Proper development of the maternal and fetal vasculature within the placenta is crucial to fetal survival.

During pregnancy, proper blood exchange through the placenta is essential to provide oxygen and nutrients as well as eliminate waste from the fetus. Abnormalities in the placenta can result in preeclampsia, birth defects, and spontaneous abortion. During

11

early stages of pregnancy the placenta develops in a low oxygen environment due to endovascular cytotrophoblast cells that block uterine spiral arterioles, limiting blood flow to the fetus (49). Unblocking of these arterioles later in pregnancy rapidly increases oxygen tension, and initiates rapid growth and differentiation of the placenta essential to maintain the fetus. Premature increases in oxygen levels can have detrimental effects on the conceptus. A premature increase in oxygen concentration can lead to damage of DNA, lipids, and proteins since the placenta contains low amounts of antioxidants during the first trimester (63). In mice, the mature placenta is established by day 10 of pregnancy (26). Dilation and loss of elastic lamina and smooth muscle of spiral arteries occurs between day 10.5 and 14.5 making this a critical point in gestation (1). In humans, premature increases in blood flow to the placenta, measured by Doppler imaging, is associated with an increased incidence of miscarriages (62). Approximately 50% of conceptions are thought to end in miscarriages, but the portion of fetal loss attributed to early placental perfusion is unknown (61, 145). A better understanding of the mechanisms responsible for development and maintenance of the vasculature in this specialized organ could reveal mechanisms underlying miscarriage and improve maternal and fetal outcomes.

<u>K⁺ channels in vascular remodeling and dilation</u>

During pregnancy, the vascular system must adapt to accommodate dramatic increases in blood volume necessary to sustain the developing fetus. K⁺ channel expression may be a contributing factor to vascular remodeling through several mechanisms (Figure 1.4). K⁺ channels contribute to cell proliferation, including vascular smooth muscle proliferation in uterine arteries (102). Potassium channels are also important in mediating vascular relaxation via endothelium-dependent hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) (42). EDHF plays a significant role in vasodilation of arteries during pregnancy. Blocking both small conductance and intermediate conductance calcium activated K⁺ channels nearly abolishes EDHF vasodilation of systemic arteries from pregnant women (42). In addition, these channels may be important targets for pregnancy related vascular diseases like preeclampsia, since patients suffering from preeclampsia have abnormal EDHF mediated vasodilation of uterine arteries (42, 67). While K⁺ channels may be important in pregnancy disorders, their role in fetal demise and miscarriages are not fully characterized.

SK3 channels in the development of the maternal vasculature of the placenta

Vascular abnormalities in SK3^{T/T} mice include an increase in vessel diameter of mesenteric arteries and abnormal mesenteric branching patterns (152). Despite characterization of abnormalities in the vasculature of SK3^{T/T} mice, the role of these channels in development of vascular aberrations and whether this promotes fetal demise have not been examined. The SK3 channel may contribute to the prevention of cardiovascular related disorders during pregnancy.

Although absent in vascular smooth muscle cells, SK3 channels are abundant in vascular endothelial cells under normal conditions (Figure 1.4) (14, 152). The effect of overexpressing SK3 channels on the development of other vascular networks, including the uterine artery and placenta during pregnancy, requires examination. Changes in branching and diameter of the uterine artery and vessels within the placenta could dramatically enhance blood flow to the fetus. Consequently, this increase in blood flow could occur prematurely during pregnancy causing a defect in placental development leading to fetal demise. Other genetic mouse models that exhibit fetal demise, such as BPH/5 mice (56), activin receptor-like kinase 1 null mice (57), heparan sulfate 6-O-sulfotransferase-1 null mice (50), and adrenomedullin heterozygous deficient mice (82), have implicated mechanisms responsible for the regulation of the maternal vasculature and placentation in mice. To date an increased incidence in fetal demise has not been

associated with SK3 channels in humans or mice. However, considering the impact placental development has on fetal outcome, if overexpression of SK3 channels results in an increase in spiral artery number and/or a decrease in vascular tone this could lead to fetal demise and resorption.

Figure 1.1: Uterine transition during labor. The uterus is divided into two functionally distinct sections, the upper forms the fundus, which produces contractions during labor, and the lower half of the uterus which is passive during labor to allow the fetus to be extruded. As pregnancy reaches term the physical properties of these two segments become more apparent. The cervix is located at the bottom of the uterine cavity, which ripens near term to allow enough stretch for the fetus to pass into the birth canal. Inset: Smooth muscle cells of the uterus also transition toward term. Early in pregnancy, smooth muscle cells maintain a high electronegativity via the Na⁺/K⁺ pump and increased expression of K⁺ channels, such as the SK3 channel, which is activated by intracellular calcium. Expression of β sympathomimetic receptors is also increased early in gestation, and their activation opens K⁺ channels. As pregnancy progresses myocytes transition to a contractile state with activation of calcium, sodium and chloride channels that results in an electronegativity closer to threshold. Prostaglandin F_{2a} and oxytocin receptors increase during pregnancy and upon ligand binding activate Ca²⁺ channels, leading to depolarization and contraction at term. Adapted from (129, 142).


Table 1.1: Genetically altered mouse models of parturition.

Genetically altered mice	Phenotype		
Progesterone withdrawal			
20alpha-Hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase 4	Delay in labor; no P4 withdrawal		
PGF _{2Mode} receptor 4	Fail to initiate labor; fetal demise; no P4 withdrawal		
Cytoplasmic phospholipase A, + and COX-1+	Delay in labor, fetal demise; no P4 withdrawal		
Kruppel-like factor 9 4	Delay in labor; aberrant PR expression		
Myometrial contraction			
Oxytocin 4 and oxytocin receptor 4	No parturition phenotype		
COX-1 4/oxytocin 4	Prolonged labor initiated at normal time		
Myometrial connexin43 4	Delayed labor; fetal demise		
15-Hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase 4-	Early labor; early PGF2Alpha increase; no progesterone withdrawal		
SK3 channel overexpressor	Prolonged labor; weaker uterine contractions at term		
Cervical ripening			
Relaxin and Relaxin receptor 4	Low penetrance nonproductive labor		
Steroid 5alpha-reductase type 1 4	Delayed or prolonged labor; impaired cervical ripening		
Circadian influence on labor			
Clock mutant	Increased incidence of extended but nonproductive labor		
Oxytocin 4	Phase advance or delay alters birth timing		
Bacterially induced Preterm Labor			
IL-1 receptor 4, IL-1B 4, and IL-64	Susceptible to bacterially induced Preterm Labor		
IL-1 receptor 4/TNF receptor 4	Decreased susceptibility to bacterially induced preterm labor		
Toll-like receptor 4 mutant	Resistant to bacterially induced preterm labor		

Source: Ratajczak CK, and Muglia LJ. Insights into parturition biology from genetically altered mice. *Pediatric research* 64: 581-589, 2008.

Figure 1.2: SK Channel structure. The SK channel family has six transmembrane spanning domains and subunits arrange in tetramers to form a channel, with N and C termini oriented on the cytosolic side of the plasma membrane. The channels are constitutively bound to calmodulin and their pore region contains two residues that determine their apamin sensitivity. Adapted from (7).



Figure 1.3: Similarities and differences between human and mouse placenta. Schematic of (A) mouse and (B) human placenta illustrating overall structure, emphasizing the size and number of the invasive trophoblast and cytotrophoblast cells. (C) Schematic of human and mouse placenta demonstrating other key contributors to placental function and direction of blood flow as indicated by the arrows. Abbreviations: MD- maternal decidua, V- villi, IVS- intervillous space, S- spongiotrophblast layer, L- fetal labyrinthine, UC- umbilical cord, CMA- central maternal artery. Adapted from (65, 130).

A. Mouse



Figure 1.4: Potassium channels in vasodilation. Schematic displaying the role potassium channels play in endothelial and smooth muscle mediated relaxation of blood vessels in response to intracellular calcium. Source: (80).



CHAPTER 2 OVEREXPRESSION OF SK3 CHANNELS DAMPENS UTERINE CONTRACTILITY TO PREVENT PRETERM LABOR IN MICE

Abstract

Mechanisms that control the timing of labor have yet to be fully characterized. In a previous study (8), over-expression of small conductance calcium-activated K⁺ channel subtype 3 in transgenic mice, Kcnn3^{tm1Jpad}/Kcnn3^{tm1Jpad} (also known as SK3^{T/T}), led to compromised parturition, which demonstrated the important role of KCNN3 in the delivery process. Based on these findings, we hypothesized that SK3 channel expression must be downregulated late in pregnancy to enable the uterus to produce the forceful contractions required for parturition. To test this hypothesis we investigated the effects of SK3 channel expression on gestation and parturition, comparing SK3^{T/T} mice to WT. In WT mice, SK3 transcript and protein were significantly reduced during pregnancy. The force produced by uterine strips from P19 SK3^{T/T} mice was significantly less than that measured in uterine strips from WT or SK3^{DOX} mice, and this effect was reversed by application of the SK3 channel inhibitor apamin. Moreover, two treatments that induce labor in mice failed to result in delivery within 48 hours following injection on P15 in SK3^{T/T} mice. Thus, stimuli that initiate parturition under normal circumstances are insufficient to coordinate the uterine contractions needed for completion of delivery when SK3 channel activity is in excess. Our data indicate that SK3 channels must be downregulated for the gravid uterus to generate labor contractions, which are sufficient for delivery, in both term and preterm mice.

Introduction

Throughout gestation the uterus is maintained in a quiescent state to allow fetal growth and development. Eventually, the relaxed uterus transitions to an active state,

with the ability to generate labor contractions in order to expel the fetus at the time of delivery. The exact mechanisms for initiation of labor have yet to be determined, but disruption of delivery can lead to complications such as preterm labor (PTL), unproductive or abnormal labor, and post-term labor. Genetic mouse models that target proteins thought to be essential for labor in mice and humans often experience normal parturition, which has ruled out several mechanisms for the regulation of the timing of labor (69). Delayed delivery due to a failure of luteolysis or cervical ripening occurs in knockout mice in which the genes encoding cyclooxygenase 1 (79), cytosolic phospholipase A_2 (157), the PGF_{2a} receptor (147) or 5a reductase type 1 (90) are disrupted. In some cases uterine contractility remains unaltered (90).

One determinant of uterine quiescence is the activity of K⁺ channels in the myometrium (71, 86). Potassium channels generate repolarizing and hyperpolarizing currents in myometrial smooth muscle cells (SMCs), thus contributing significantly to uterine quiescence (19, 85). Accordingly, the regulation of the activation of these channels becomes inherently important as pregnancy progresses so that myometrial tranquility is maintained until the fetus is fully developed and contractions are necessary. Both the level of expression and the density of K⁺ channels in the myometrium change dynamically throughout pregnancy (68, 86, 97). The K⁺ channels most extensively studied in pregnancy are the large-conductance calcium- and voltage-sensitive K⁺ channels, and the SK3 channels. Although the expression of other K⁺ channels changes throughout pregnancy, SK3 channels were the first channels that over-expression led to a delay or cessation of parturition (8).

Recent studies have shown that transgenic mice over-expressing SK3 channels have compromised parturition (8). Although the underlying mechanism remains to be proven, the hyperpolarizing potential of SK3 channels, as well as the role of this current in uterine relaxation (13), support the idea that SK3 channel over-expression may abrogate parturition by reducing the ability of the uterus to contract. The SK3^{T/T} mouse is a transgenic knock-in animal that the administration of doxycycline results in a functional SK3 knockout. SK3^{DOX} mice do not exhibit a detectable phenotype, whereas SK3^{T/T} mice show a 2.4-fold increase in channel expression (53). Parturition is defective in 70% of SK3^{T/T} mice; 40% of these cases involve delayed delivery, and 60% result in dam mortality (8). In contrast, both heterozygous and SK3^{DOX} mice deliver all fetuses on the appropriate gestational day (8). These results support the hypothesis that overexpression of SK3 channels, or the failure to downregulate the expression of SK3 channels, may delay the onset of labor.

The mechanisms by which SK3 channels modify myometrial function are similar in humans and mice. In recent studies, uterine smooth muscle from non-pregnant (NP) SK3^{T/T} mice showed decreased phasic contractions compared to tissue from its WT counterpart (13). In contrast, the suppression of SK3 channel expression in urinary smooth muscle increased phasic contractions (53). Furthermore, in humans SK3 transcript was lower in term pregnant myometrium than in the equivalent non-pregnant tissue (97), implicating the channel in human parturition.

Taken together, these earlier findings led us to hypothesize that SK3 channel expression is downregulated late in pregnancy in order to permit uterine contractions of the magnitude needed for parturition. The experiments undertaken in this study investigated this possibility, with respect to not only the downregulation of SK3 channels, but also the consequences of SK3 overexpression on the generation of contractions and for parturition itself.

Materials and methods

Animals

All animal procedures complied with the guidelines for the care and use of animals set forth by the NIH. The Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Iowa approved all protocols. SK3^{T/T} mice on a C57BL/6 background were used for this study (gift from John Adelman at the Vollum institute) (8). A tetracycline-based genetic switch inserted in the untranslated region of the SK3 gene allowed for site-specific expression and suppression of the gene upon consumption of dietary DOX (Bio-Serv, Frenchtown, NJ). DOX feed was administered at least one week before experiments were initiated, to inhibit SK3 channel expression. SK3^{DOX}, WT littermates and C57BL/6 mice were used as controls for comparison with SK3^{T/T} mice.

Adult female mice were mated at 8 weeks of age or later. Day 0 of pregnancy was determined based on the presence of a copulatory plug. Mice were euthanized by CO₂ inhalation on particular days relative to pregnancy (non-pregnant (NP), days 7, 10, 14, 17, 19 of gestation (P7-19) and 2 days postpartum (PP2)). Uterine tissue was isolated and flash-frozen in liquid N₂.

Extraction of RNA and real-time PCR

The guanidinium isothiocyanate method was used to obtain total RNA from mouse uteri as previously described (4). Total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA) to generate cDNA. The cDNA was amplified in triplicate, using primers specific for murine *KCNN3* channels (GGGTGTCAAGATGGAACAAA, ATCTTGGAAAGGTCCACCAG) or GAPDH (GCAGTGGCAAAGTGGAAGATT, GAATTTGCCGTGAGTGGAGT), and the SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad, Hercules, CA). GAPDH served as a standard to normalize gene expression.

Electrophysiology

For electrophysiological analysis, NP mouse uterine tissue was removed, cut into 4mm x 2mm and dissociated as previously described (4). The cell suspension was allowed to settle for ~20 minutes in an external solution containing (in mM) 135 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 10 glucose, 2 CaCl₂, and 5 HEPES at pH 7.4. A solution containing

(in mM) 140 KCl, 0.5 MgCl₂, 1 EGTA, 5 ATP, 5 HEPES and 0.5 of free Ca⁺² at pH 7.2 was used to fill heat-polished borosilicate pipettes. Cells were patch-clamped at room temperature (~22°C). Upon achievement of a gigaohm seal (2-10 g Ω), membrane potential was clamped and series resistance compensated. Whole-cell recording was performed as previously described (11). Briefly, current was measured with a holding potential of -80 mV, and step potentials were elicited from -80 to +120 mV in 20 mV intervals by an Axopatch 200-B (Axon Instruments, Union City, CA) amplifier. Currents were measured in the absence and presence of apamin (500 nM). Commercial pClamp 9.2 software and Digidata 1322A interface (Axon Instruments) were used to acquire and digitize data. The clampfit 9.2 software program (Axon Instruments) was used to calculate mean sustained K⁺ current amplitudes and normalized to cell size (pA/pF).

Isometric tension recordings

Following euthanasia of P19 mice with CO₂, uterine tissue was isolated and cut into 4mm x 8mm strips in Krebs solution containing (in mM) 118.3 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 1.2 MgSO₄, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 25 NaHCO₃, 2.5 CaCl₂, and 11 glucose. Strips were mounted to a force transducer in organ baths filled with oxygenated (95% O₂, 5% CO₂) Krebs solution at 37°C, and tension was recorded by a Powerlab (ADInstruments, Castle Hill, NSW, Australia) data acquisition system. Basal tension (1 g) was applied to the tissue strips and equilibrated for 45 minutes prior to study. Apamin was added to the bath (500 nM) and tension recorded for 15 minutes. Spontaneous contractions obtained before and after addition of apamin were compared. To compare contractions between groups, the maximal tension produced by KCl (80 mM) was used to normalize contractions. KCl was used to normalize contractions because it increases extracellular K⁺ leading to a rapid depolarization in excitable cells that is not affected by the outward current of SK3 channels (124). Contractions in response to KCl in WT, SK3^{T/T} and SK3^{DOX} mice did not significantly differ. Tension recordings were analyzed using Hemolab Software Ver. 3.8 (78). Tenminute traces obtained prior to and following apamin application were compared. The minimum tension was determined and subtracted from all traces to obtain a baseline response. A contraction was defined as any increase in amplitude 50% or greater than the maximal contraction. The heights of the contractions were determined and averaged.

Immunoblotting

Cell membrane fractions were isolated from mouse uterine tissue as previously described (4), separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose. Membranes were probed with rabbit polyclonal anti-SK3 N-terminal primary antibody (1:100 dilution, Alomone Labs, Jerusalem, Israel) and HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit Fc secondary antibody (1:3,000 dilution, Pierce, Rockford, II). To assure equal loading the blots were re-probed with anti-GAPDH primary antibody (1:1,000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA) and HRP-conjugated mouse anti-goat secondary antibody (1:3,000 dilution, Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA). Signal was detected by chemiluminescence (ECL Western Blotting Detection Reagents, Buckinghamshire, UK) and SK3 protein expression was quantitated using densitometry (ImageJ, NIH) and normalized to GAPDH.

Induction of preterm labor

At P15, WT, SK3^{T/T} and SK3^{DOX} mice were injected with either lipopolysaccharide (LPS, 100 µg, *Escherichia coli*, serotype 0111:B4, Sigma, St. Louis, MO) in sterile saline solution, or RU486 (mifepristone) (100 µg) in ethanol (33, 34). Delivery was assessed after 24 hours. 48 hours post-injection, mice were sacrificed and examined for fetal remains within uterine horns, which represented a failure in delivery. Complete delivery was established by the absence of fetuses. For tension recording measurements, uteri were isolated 8 hours post-LPS injection. Progesterone withdrawal (as a consequence of LPS administration) was assessed in SK3^{T/T} and WT mice using serum samples obtained via tail vein immediately before and 8 hours after LPS injection. Serum progesterone levels were measured by ELISA (DRG Diagnostics, Germany).

Statistical analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical significance was determined by one-way and two-way ANOVA where appropriate, followed by post-hoc comparison using Student t-tests. Success rate of delivery was analyzed using chi-square distribution. Significance was determined at p < 0.05. N refers to number of animals in all cases.

<u>Results</u>

SK3 Expression in pregnant mice

To assess the expression of *KCNN3* channel transcript during pregnancy, we isolated RNA from NP and pregnant mice at various stages of gestation (NP, P7-PP2, N=3-6). Real time PCR (qPCR) analyses revealed a decrease in SK3 transcript by P14 of gestation compared to NP, which was maintained until term (Figure 2.1A). To assess whether SK3 protein levels mimic transcript expression, immunoblotting with SK3-specfic antibodies was performed. Membranes isolated from uterine tissue of NP, P7-P19, and PP2 mice showed that SK3 protein expression decreased with progression of pregnancy, from mid-gestation onwards (Figure 2.1B). Quantification of blots using densitometry further demonstrated this downregulation of SK3 (Figure 2.1C, N=6). Thus, during normal mouse gestation, SK3 channels are downregulated from mid to late gestation.

K⁺ *current in myometrial smooth muscle cells*

To assure that SK3 channels were present in myometrial cells and to assess the contribution of SK3 current to total myometrial cell K⁺ current, whole-cell patch clamping experiments were performed. Myometrial cells isolated from NP WT and SK3

^{T/T} mice were held at -70 mV and pulsed in 20 mV steps to 140 mV. At 140 mV, NP myometrial cells showed a 29% reduction in total K⁺ current after apamin (500nM) administration (Figure 2.2A, N=5). In contrast, in the myometrial cells of SK3 ^{T/T} mice apamin reduced K⁺ current by 39% (Figure 2.2B, N=2). These data indicate that the SK3 repolarizing current is increased 1.8-fold in SK3 ^{T/T} mice, coincident with overexpression of SK3 channels and are in agreement with other studies that show similar levels of enhancement of SK channel current in smooth muscle cells (53).

Uterine contractility in mice during late-stage pregnancy

Contractility was measured in uteri isolated from P19 WT, SK3^{T/T} and SK3^{DOX} mice (Figure 2.3). Consistent with reports from other studies, we observed spontaneous uterine contractions in all three experimental groups (Figure 2.3A) (25). WT and SK3^{DOX} uterine strips produced similar peak contractions prior to apamin administration, whereas SK3^{T/T} uterine strips produced reduced contractions (Figure 2.3A). Apamin (500 nM), which inhibits SK3 channels, did not affect contractions generated by WT and SK3^{DOX} uterine strips (Figure 2.3A) but led to an increase in the contraction in SK3^{T/T} strips (Figure 2.3B, N=5 for all groups). Thus, over-expression of SK3 channels appears to weaken uterine contractility. Apamin did not affect oxytocin-induced contractions in WT (before 102.54±9.69, after 98.91±10.10, N=4), SK3^{T/T} (before 112.21±8.68, after 87.80±6.36, N=4) or SK3^{DOX} (before 106.82±7.61, after 105.54±12.73, N=3) mice.

Deliveries after induction of preterm labor

We reasoned that, in addition to disruption of parturition at term, the reduction in contractile function of uteri from SK3^{T/T} mice may prevent preterm labor (8). Although WT and SK3^{DOX} mice completely delivered within 24 hours following injection of the labor-inducing agent LPS, SK3^{T/T} mice failed to complete delivery (Table 2.1). In some instances SK3^{T/T} mice had a fetus lodged within the birth canal, indicating that labor had begun but fetal expulsion was not achieved.

Similar to isometric tension recordings performed with P19 mice, $SK3^{T/T}$ mice (N=7) also showed a reduction in the amount of tension produced 8 hours-post LPS injection at P15 compared to WT (N=5) and $SK3^{DOX}$ (N=5, Figure 2.4A). This further indicates that overexpression of SK3 channels dampens uterine contractility.

The onset of preterm labor in mice injected with LPS coincides with a drop in progesterone levels similar to term deliveries (39). WT (N=6), SK3^{T/T} (N=5), and SK3^{DOX} (N=5) mice induced to deliver preterm had similar levels of serum progesterone prior to LPS injection (Figure 2.4B), and treatment resulted in a significant (and comparable) decrease in progesterone levels in all groups. These data suggest that progesterone withdrawal necessary for induction of preterm labor occurred in the SK3^{T/T} group, despite the fact that these mice were not able to complete delivery.

To eliminate the possibility that the failure of SK3^{T/T} mice to deliver preterm was due to a decrease in responsiveness to LPS, preterm labor was also induced using RU486, a progesterone-receptor antagonist. As in the case of induction with LPS, WT and SK3^{DOX} mice were able to complete delivery within 24 hours (Table 2.1), yet SK3^{T/T} mice did not completely deliver (Table 2.1). Serum progesterone levels were not measured in this case because RU486 is a progesterone receptor antagonist, reducing receptor function rather than progesterone levels (33).

Discussion

This study addressed mechanisms that underlie the regulation of parturition by SK3 channels. Our finding that uterine tissue obtained from SK3^{T/T} mice produced significantly less tension per contraction compared to WT mice, suggested that a decrease in uterine contractility was involved in the associated dysfunction of delivery. It also appeared that SK3 overexpression was responsible for the inability of uteri from SK3^{T/T} mice to contract forcefully enough to complete delivery, since SK3^{DOX} mice produced contractions comparable to those in WT mice. SK3 channels have previously been

shown to diminish contractility in the smooth muscle of the bladder (53) and more specifically, in the NP myometrium (13), exemplifying the role SK3 channels play in the relaxation of various types of smooth muscle tissue.

SK3 channels are widely expressed throughout tissues that are essential for pregnancy and parturition (20). For example, SK3 channels are expressed in the hypothalamus (20), where they could affect hormone secretion, thereby leading to compromised parturition. Oxytocin, a hormone that stimulates uterine contractions during labor (6), is released from neurons in the supraoptic nucleus, a region that also harbors neurons and astrocytes that express SK3 channels (3). It is thus possible that SK3 channels regulate oxytocin release. However, oxytocin knockout mice deliver at term (112), indicating oxytocin is not essential for parturition to proceed. This supports the alternative explanation that delayed delivery by SK3^{T/T} mice is due to a decline of myometrial excitability.

Our data show a significant reduction in SK3 channel expression in WT mice mid-gestation, but the mechanism responsible for this downregulation has yet to be determined. Estrogens have been implicated in SK3 upregulation; SK3 mRNA levels increased in response to injection of 17β -estradiol into the rostral hypothalamus of ovariectomized guinea pigs (9). Consequently, estrogen surges are important in the regulation of pregnancy and could potentially regulate SK3 channel expression. However, the SK3 gene does not contain an estrogen response element, making a direct interaction with the estrogen receptor unlikely. However, the promoter region of the SK3 gene contains two Sp-binding motifs that are necessary for the estrogen-induced SK3 mRNA upregulation (60). Since estrogen plays a central role in the progression of pregnancy, this may be one mechanism for the regulation of SK3 expression in the uterus. This is examined in Chapter 4.

Changes in cellular content and extracellular matrix of the cervix before parturition are important for successful delivery (54). Such "ripening" of the cervix is essential for a timely parturition in mice, as illustrated by the 5 α reductase type 1 (90) and the transgenic human apolipoprotein B (162) mice, in which these proteins fail to upregulate and delivery is unsuccessful. Given the presence of SK3 channels in the cervix (20) and their hyperpolarizing influence, it seems likely these channels would contribute to cervical relaxation. Thus, regulation of cervical changes is another possible role for SK3 channels in parturition.

While the current study did not specifically examine the endothelial cells that line the myometrium, previous studies have demonstrated that endothelium-dependent relaxation in human umbilical vein is sensitive to apamin (109). Such an effect could impinge on uterine contractility, since endothelial cells are abundant in endometrium (55) and may play a role in pregnancy by contributing to relaxation of the myometrium. Additionally, a previous study using human myometrial tissue samples from NP individuals indicated that SK3 channels are necessary for the relaxant effect of nitric oxide on the uterus (106). In spite of the fact that SK3 channels are not present in vascular smooth muscle, their presence in the endothelial layer is important to maintain relaxation of resistance arteries (152). Thus, although SK3 channels are localized in myometrial smooth muscle. This broadens the scope of the hyperpolarizing effects of SK3 channels in smooth muscle of myometrium.

The physiological changes in the uterus that are necessary for labor at term also occur during premature labor (52). Reducing the excitability of the uterus by increasing the expression of SK3 channels could stop the progression of preterm delivery. As mentioned previously, other mouse models also fail in parturition, but many of these are caused by a failure to receive the signals required to initiate parturition (79, 147, 157). It appears that the SK3^{T/T} mouse, on the other hand, is one of the few models that, despite receiving signals adequate to initiate luteolysis, are nevertheless unable to complete the process of parturition. The failure to complete preterm delivery in SK3^{T/T} mice (Table 1)

suggests that SK3 channels could be targeted to prevent, or stop the progression of, preterm labor in humans. This could have a dramatic impact, as preterm delivery accounts for approximately 12.5% of all births in the U.S. (93), and premature delivery is associated with one-third of infant mortality (15). Current treatments for preterm labor remain largely ineffective and, in some cases, can be harmful to the mother or fetus. The need for a safer, more successful treatment, or the development of preventive measures for premature labor, makes SK3 channels a compelling target for further investigation.

In the study presented here, we have provided evidence that SK3 channels play a critical role in uterine contractility during pregnancy. Furthermore, we have demonstrated the ability of these channels to prevent the progression of preterm labor in mice. The next step will be to elucidate mechanisms that control this effect, which is explored in Chapter 4. Ultimately, this will allow the ability to modulate regulation of K^+ channels, which could play an important role in the treatment of preterm labor.

	Pre -term Delivery	Total Dams
WT-LPS	100%	6
SK3 ^{T/T} -LPS	0% *	6
SK3 ^{DOX} -LPS	100%	5
SK3 ^{T/T} -RU486	0% *	5
SK3 ^{DOX} -RU486	100%	4

Table 2.1: Success rate of delivery.

Note: The number of mice able to complete delivery by 48 hours after injection of 100 ug LPS or RU486. * p < 0.05 vs. WT-LPS.

Figure 2.1: Downregulation of SK3 in mouse uteri towards term. (A) Real-time PCR analysis of uterine SK3 transcript demonstrated downregulation at P14 and P19, relative to NP, uterine samples (N=3-6). (B) Western immunoblotting of WT mouse uteri showed downregulation of SK3 protein throughout pregnancy. (C) Densitometry analysis of western blot data for SK3 protein normalized to GAPDH protein levels (N=6, Mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs. NP).



Figure 2.2: Contribution of SK3 channels to myometrial cell K⁺ current. Whole-cell patch clamping trace of (A) NP WT and (B) SK3 ^{T/T} myometrial cells before and after apamin (500 nM) application.



Figure 2.3: Spontaneous contractions of uterine strips from WT, SK3^{T/T}, and SK3^{DOX} mice. (A) Tension development (g) of uterine strips from P19 WT, SK3^{T/T}, and SK3^{DOX} mice before and after apamin (500 nM) application. (B) Tension development of uterine strips (percent of maximal KCl response) from P19 WT, SK3^{T/T}, and SK3^{DOX} mice before and after application of apamin (N=5, Mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs. SK3^{T/T} after apamin, ** p < 0.05 vs. WT/SK3^{DOX} before apamin).



Figure 2.4: Average tension development of uterine strips and progesterone levels after LPS injection. (A) Force of spontaneous contractions produced by uterine strips from WT, SK3^{T/T}, and SK3^{DOX} mice (percent of maximal KCl response) 8 hours-post LPS and before and after application of apamin (N=5,7 and 5, respectively, Mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs. SK3^{T/T} after apamin, ** p < 0.05 vs. WT/SK3^{DOX} before apamin). (B) Progesterone levels (ng/ml) were determined via ELISA in serum samples taken pre- and 8 hours post-LPS injection in WT, SK3^{T/T}, and SK3^{DOX} mice (N=6,5,5, Mean \pm SEM, * p < 0.05 vs. pre-LPS).



CHAPTER 3

UTERINE TELEMETRIC PRESSURE MEASUREMENTS *IN VIVO*: A NEW APPROACH FOR STUDYING PARTURITION IN MOUSE MODELS

Abstract

A number of transgenic and knockout mouse models have proven useful in the study of genes necessary for parturition—including those genes that affect the timing and/or progression of labor contractions. However, taking full advantage of these models will require a detailed characterization of the contractile patterns in the mouse uterus. Currently the best methodology for this has been the *in vitro* measurement of isometric tension recordings in isolated muscle strips. However this methodology does not provide a real-time measure of changes in uterine pressure over the course of pregnancy. Recent technological advances have theoretically opened the possibility of using radiotelemetric devices to more accurately and comprehensively study intrauterine pressure in vivo. We set out to test the effectiveness of this technology in the mouse, in both WT mice and a mouse model of defective parturition (due to expression of a transgene encoding the SK3 channel), several days after surgical implant of telemetry transmitters into the uterine horn. Continuous recordings from day 18 of pregnancy were continued until after delivery. Calculation of average uterine pressure over the course of 12-hour light and dark cycles revealed that WT mice typically deliver during the 12-hour dark period after 19.5 days of pregnancy. In these mice, intrauterine pressure gradually increases during this period, to 3-fold greater than that measured during the 12-hour period prior to delivery. SK3-channel overexpressing mice, by contrast, exhibited lower intrauterine pressure over the same period. These results are consistent with the outcome of previous *in vitro* studies, and indicate that telemetry is an accurate method for measuring uterine contraction, and hence parturition, in mice. The use of this technology will lead to

important novel insights into changes in intrauterine pressure during the course of pregnancy.

Introduction

Preterm deliveries alone account for over 12.6% of all births in the U.S., and are associated with a high percentage (~85%) of perinatal morbidity and mortality (15). Despite increased medical intervention over the past 30 years, preterm birth rates have risen by 28%—with most of these births occurring in women who do not have any of the known risk factors. Risk factors that have been identified are related to four distinct processes, each of which activates multiple signaling pathways and leads to preterm birth: precocious fetal endocrine activation, uterine overdistension, decidual bleeding, and intrauterine inflammation/infection (141).

Genetically modified mouse models have served as effective systems in which to investigate the signaling pathways essential to labor—both preterm and term. Despite certain differences in parturition between human and mouse, these species are similar with respect to many of the pathways that are known to modify pregnancy outcome (105). Mouse models of altered parturition include those in which myometrial contraction (Chapter 2), progesterone withdrawal, abnormal cervical ripening or the circadian rhythm is affected (123). While alterations in individual genes can affect different pathways to parturition, all processes must ultimately lead to a change in myometrial contraction. The characterization of changes in uterine contraction that are associated with abnormal pregnancy in mouse has thus far been limited to the measurement of isometric tension. Although these measurements can provide important information, they are restricted to one stage of pregnancy rather than giving a comprehensive view of contractile and pressure changes over the course of pregnancy and delivery. Furthermore, this assay requires that the animals are euthanized, and thus preclude an assessment of the innate progression of labor or its initiation. These technical limitations have hindered the amount of information that can be obtained from these mouse models.

Recently, studies in rats demonstrated that radiotelemetry could be used to measure intrauterine pressures *in vivo* (89, 138). Although the size of the radiotelemetric transmitters initially excluded use of this technology to measure intrauterine pressure in mice, the development of a miniature transmitter (1.1 cc) that can measure physiologic pressure (in the range of -20 to 300 mmHg) has enabled us to develop a method that can be utilized to measure intrauterine pressure in mice. We have now applied this procedure to SK3^{T/T} mice, in which uterine contractions are dampened, resulting in delayed or hindered delivery in 70% of dams (8, 120). In addition, we further distinguished the role that SK3 channels play in the labor process. These studies demonstrate that radiotelemetry can be effectively used to study uterine contractions, as part of the full characterization of genetic mouse models of disrupted labor.

<u>Methods</u>

Animals

All animal procedures complied with the guidelines for the care and use of animals set forth by the NIH. The Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Iowa approved all protocols. SK3^{T/T} mice (gift from John Adelman at the Vollum Institute) were on a C57BL/6 background. WT littermates of SK3^{T/T} mice served as controls. Adult female mice were mated at 8 weeks of age or later. Day 0 of pregnancy was determined based on the presence of a copulatory plug. Animals were housed in Soft-Zorb bedding (Nepco, Warrensburg, NY) and fed standard mouse chow (Harlan Laboratories, 7913).

Surgical procedure

Originally designed for measuring blood pressure in mice (104), the PhysioTel® PA-C10 transmitter (Data Sciences International, St. Paul, MN) was used to measure intrauterine pressure during labor. Prior to implantation, PA-C10 transmitters were cleaned and sterilized according to DSI instructions. Mice were weighed and injected with buprenophrine $(3 \mu g)$ prior to surgery. Animals were anesthetized with ketamine (91 mg/kg) and xylazine (9.1 mg/kg IP). Using aseptic and sterile technique, an incision approximately 1 inch long was made in the abdomen wall (Figure 3.1A). The uterus was carefully exteriorized and the number of pups in each uterine horn was counted. One horn was selected for catheter implantation, and a small incision was made at the top of the uterine horn (Figure 3.1A). Vessel cannulation forceps (World Precision Instruments, Sarasota, FL) were used to carefully thread the pressure catheter into the uterine horn, between the uterine wall and fetus (Figure 3.1B). A small drop of Vetbond (3M, St. Paul, MN) was applied to the site of insertion and allowed to dry (Figure 3.1C). The transmitter was carefully placed into the lower portion of the abdominal cavity to avoid damage to the liver, and the implanted horn was reinserted into the body cavity. The abdominal wall was then sutured closed and the mouse was monitored until fully awake. Soft food was available to animals from after surgery through to post-delivery to improve maternal outcome.

Induction of preterm labor in WT mice

To test if uterine telemetry can be successfully used to monitor labor in an induced model of preterm labor, we implanted WT mice as described above. Recordings were started on P14, and at 1:00 PM on P15 the mice were injected with RU486 (100 μ g; Sigma, St. Louis, MO) in ethanol, as described previously (34, 120). Uterine pressure was measured after 24 h.

Data acquisition and statistical analysis

Telemetry recordings were performed at 500 Hz, using a Dataquest ART data acquisition system version 4.10 (Data Sciences International, St. Paul MN). Continuous recordings were begun on day P18 (P14 in preterm labor model), and continued through day P22 or until after delivery, whichever occurred first. The light and dark cycles of the mice were noted for each delivery. The changes in pressure between the 12-hour cycle in which the mouse delivered were compared to those during the 12-hour cycle preceding delivery. Hourly averages were calculated using Dataquest A.R.T. 4.2 software (Data Sciences International, St. Paul, MN), which averaged all data points from within an hour.

Data gathered by the telemetry transmitters during the 12 hour light or dark period preceding delivery and the 12-hour light or dark period in which delivery occurred were used to examine the power spectrum of the pressure, as Fast Fourier Transformations generated using Dataquest A.R.T. 4.2 software (Data Sciences International, St. Paul, MN). This allows us to capture the frequency information of the pressure oscillations and identify periodicities. All out-of-range data points (which usually result from gross body movements during the recording period) were replaced by points calculated from interpolation between adjacent points. Results from the Fast Fourier Transformation analysis ranged between 0.00039 and 0.03398 Hz (i.e. events with periods ranging from 29.4 seconds to 42 minutes, 44 seconds). The power spectrum of pressures calculated from the 12-hour period in which delivery occurred was normalized for each frequency bin, by the power calculated from the 12-hour period before delivery for each animal.

All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. In all cases, N refers to the number of animals. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA, or two-way ANOVA where appropriate, followed by post-hoc comparison using Student t-tests. Significance was determined at p < 0.05.

<u>Results</u>

Intrauterine pressure increases during labor in WT mice

To determine if intrauterine pressure can be measured during labor in mice, we implanted pressure transmitters into WT mice (C57BL/6, which typically deliver at 19.5 days of gestation) on P8-9 of gestation, as this resulted in optimal fetal outcome in these animals. Continuous measurement of pressure was initiated at P18 and continued through the time of delivery. Because disturbing a mouse during parturition can cause the dam to cease labor (110), mice were monitored briefly near the beginning of each light cycle and just before each dark cycle to determine if delivery had occurred. Pressure peaks visibly increased in magnitude and number at the time coinciding with labor and delivery (Figure 3.2). SK3^{T/T} mice were implanted similarly, but optimal fetal outcome was established on P13-14 of gestation. Measurements of intrauterine pressure during delivery in WT and SK3^{T/T} mice were compared. This revealed that the oscillations measured by telemetry for the WT and SK3^{T/T} mice (Figure 3.3A and B, respectively) mimicked those observed by phasic measurement of isometric tension in myometrial strips isolated from the same strains at P19 (Figure 3.3C and D, respectively) (9). However, the *in vivo* pressure oscillations during parturition occurred at longer intervals than the force oscillations measured by the recording of isometric tension (Figure 3.3A,B vs. Figure 3.3C,D). The observed similarities in the oscillations suggest that the intrauterine pressure readings are good indicators of uterine contractile activity. The differences in timing underscore the notion that *in vitro* measurements do not accurately reflect all aspects of these oscillations (perhaps because they are not subject to modification by endogenous factors that likely contribute to the oscillatory nature of pressure in the uterus).

To better understand how pressures change during pregnancy, we measured average pressures (on an hourly basis) before and during pregnancy. The hourly averages calculated during the 12-hour period in which the mouse delivered were much lower than the individual pressure spikes during delivery, evident in Figure 3.2. However, the overall hourly average pressures during delivery were greater than baseline pressure, which was determined from readings during the 12-hour period preceding delivery (Figure 3.4). The average basal intrauterine pressure was 6.9 ± 1.4 mmHg during the light or dark period preceding the period in which delivery occurred. The average intrauterine pressures in the cycle during which delivery occurred increased gradually, peaking at 25.1 ± 5.6 mmHg, which is 3-fold greater than the maximal pressure during the preceding 12-hour period (Figure 3.4A).

Having determined, based on telemetry recordings, that average intrauterine pressure increases during delivery we next compared the shift in peak pressures generated during parturition more directly. To this end, we compared the frequency of the various pressure oscillations attained for the 12-hour period prior to and the 12-hour period during delivery. Using Dataquest A.R.T. 4.2 software (Data Sciences International, St. Paul, MN), we were able to generate a histogram binned into 10 divisions of 4 mmHg each between pressures of 0-40 mmHg, in order to assess whether there was a shift to greater pressures in the light/dark cycle in which delivery occurred. As seen in Figure 3.4B, the frequency distribution of the pressure during delivery shifted to the right, indicating that a greater number of peaks occurred at higher pressures during the cycle in which delivery occurred (Figure 3.4B). This indicates that the transmitters can measure significant pressure changes in the uterus, consistent with labor.

Induced preterm labor leads to increased intrauterine

pressure

In order to determine if radiotelemetry can be used earlier in gestation with a model of induced preterm delivery, we induced labor in WT mice by injecting 100µg RU486 on P15 (120). Injection was always carried out at 1:00 pm, and all mice delivered

within 24 hours of injection. Hourly averages demonstrated that intrauterine pressure consistently began to rise approximately 8-hours post injection (Figure 3.5). Approximately 6 hours later, pressure peaked, signifying delivery, consistent with previous studies demonstrating that this is typically when mice deliver following RU486 injection (45). Uterine pressure returned to baseline following delivery. This experiment suggests that radiotelemetry can be utilized as early as P15 in mice induced to undergo labor preterm.

Mouse model of delayed labor exhibits reduced intrauterine pressure during labor cycle

Having successfully produced intrauterine recordings in WT mice, we wanted to investigate the novel information radiotelemetry could detect in a mouse model of disrupted parturition. We used SK3^{T/T} mice that, in contrast to their WT counterparts, had the best fetal outcome when surgery was performed on P13-14. Recordings began on P18 and continued until delivery or P22. Since most SK3^{T/T} mice do not deliver on the appropriate gestational day, we compared the time periods that coincided with typical WT delivery. Uterine pressures in the SK3^{T/T} mice remained near baseline and did not show an increase in pressure like that seen in WT mice during their delivery cycle (Figure 3.6). When $SK3^{T/T}$ mice were able to deliver pups, they did not exhibit the gradual increase in pressure seen during the course of delivery in WT mice. Although several SK3^{T/T} mice produced intrauterine pressures above-baseline that was sufficient for delivery, they were usually not of the same magnitude as those of their WT counterparts (Figure 3.7). The few $SK3^{T/T}$ mice that did exhibit pressures of the same magnitude as WT mice were not able to sustain these pressures, a deficiency that could have contributed to their failure to deliver in a time frame similar to that typical for WT mice (P19.5 days).
Power spectrum analysis of intrauterine pressure during pre-labor and labor in WT and SK3^{T/T} *mice.*

To identify the frequencies of the intrauterine pressure waves that change during the 12-hour period in which parturition occurs, we performed Fast Fourier Transformations for the pressure recordings of the 12-hour light or dark period preceding delivery and the 12-hour period in which delivery occurred. In WT mice, the power spectrum of intrauterine pressure increased during the period in which delivery occurred relative to the power spectrum for the 12-hour period before delivery (Figure 3.8A). These increases in power were significantly greater in the case of contractile frequencies centered on 0.0038, 0.0065, 0.0161, 0.0238, 0.02778, and 0.0333 Hz. Although SK3^{T/T} mice also exhibited an apparent increase in the power spectrum of the intrauterine pressure during parturition, this difference was not significant given the extreme variance between animals (Figure 3.8B). When comparing the power spectrum of the WT versus SK3^{T/T} mice for the period of delivery, we found that WT mice generated significantly higher pressures, at frequencies of 0.0064, 0.0102, 0.0127, and 0.0263 Hz, as compared to SK3^{T/T} mice, whose power peaked at similar frequencies but not to the same extent (Figure 3.8C). The rise in power at 0.005-0.010 Hz that occurred during WT labor was not produced during SK3^{T/T} labor (Figure 3.8C), indicating that contractions in that range of frequencies may be dampened by the overexpression of SK3 channels.

Discussion

Most studies that investigate myometrial contractility have had to rely on *in vitro* measurements of tension. Such methods are useful, and will continue to be necessary for studying uterine contractions early in gestation (when the uterus contracts asynchronously), as well as for investigating the effects of drugs, toxins and other solutions that cannot be administered to a live animal. However, *in vivo* approaches are necessary in some contexts, for example, when investigating the relationship of

contractility to the progression of labor or the time at which labor begins. In addition, getting a complete picture of changes in uterine contractile pattern over the course of pregnancy through *in vitro* approaches would require sacrificing large numbers of animals. Furthermore, the *in vitro* approach requires that uterine strips are mounted either vertically or horizontally, which limits investigation of the contractions to those produced either by the circular or longitudinal muscle layer of the uterus; as such, removing a section from a late-gestation uterus to study its contractility *in vitro* both changes contractile fiber orientation and fails to account for most endogenous physiological neurohumoral influences. The use of uterine telemetry eliminates these obstacles, making it possible to more accurately study parturition in mouse models.

One mouse model that exhibits compromised parturition is the SK3^{T/T} mouse that was used in this study (8). Using an *in vitro* approach, we previously demonstrated that uterine contractions in these mice were dampened (Chapter 2), suggesting that altered uterine function leads to dysfunctional delivery (120). Our application of a more advanced methodology, radiotelemetric technology, enabled us to more accurately study the SK3 channel's contribution to myometrial contraction. We found that whereas intrauterine pressure gradually increased 3-fold during delivery in WT animals, that in SK3^{T/T} mice failed to increase to a similar extent at the same stage of gestation. Furthermore, we demonstrated that excess SK3 channels result not only in dampening of uterine contractions, but also in a reduction of the frequency of contraction in the cases when they did deliver. During delivery in SK3^{T/T} mice, basal pressure did not increase gradually as in delivery in WT mice, indicating that even when these mice are able to produce pressures adequate for delivery, the overall elevation in basal pressure may not be sufficient to ensure consistent delivery on P19.5. This prior unknown function of SK3 channels in uterine activity would not have been discovered in the absence of radiotelemetry. Thus, studying uterine contraction in a live animal has given us the

capacity to obtain more precise details about the mechanisms underlying parturition, and to extract new information that will provide insights into the process of parturition.

Although radiotelemetry was successfully used in mice, one of the challenges that had to be overcome was fetal loss following implant of the telemetry transmitter. Modifying the time of implantation according to strain made successful term pregnancies more consistent, but full litters were not produced. Given that intrauterine pressure in WT mice did not correlate with delivery of larger litters versus those that delivered smaller litters, it seems that the number of pups to be birthed does not affect overall intrauterine pressure. The fact that the optimal time of surgery for SK3^{T/T} mice was different for that in WT mice suggests that modifications to the surgery protocol may be necessary for each mouse model of interest. Fetal loss following telemeter implant was not completely alleviated in either the WT or the mutant strain, but fetal outcome is expected to improve as the transmitter technology is refined. This will undoubtedly advance the usefulness of this technology in studies of the mechanisms that contribute to labor.

Our *in vivo* recordings demonstrate that intrauterine pressure measurements in mouse yield data consistent with those obtained by *in vitro* tension measurements, indicating that this approach can be used to accurately quantify uterine activity. As in the telemetry-based study in rat uteri, we found that intrauterine pressure in WT mice increased at the end of pregnancy. We also discovered that not only the baseline pressure, but also the number of contractions that produce higher pressure, rise. Of further interest is the fact that the WT uterus showed a shift in the pressure produced during delivery compared to that produced during the previous12-hour period (Figure 3.8), with the maximal WT intrauterine pressure reached during delivery as high as 189±31 mmHg (Figure 3.3). These findings illustrate that the information obtained from *in vivo* uterine recordings will provide useful new details about the genes that are targeted

in mouse models of parturition, which will in turn lead to a better understanding of the mechanistic basis of labor and delivery in humans.

Genetic predisposition is one risk factor for preterm delivery (30, 121). As data from the Genome-Wide Association Study (GWAS) becomes available, multiple genes will be identified that may impact the relative risk of preterm labor. Subsequently, these genes can be targeted in mouse models in order to further study their function during parturition. Thus, technological advances that allow more precise testing of myometrial contractions in mice are expected to greatly impact the field of prevention and treatment of preterm labor by facilitating the identification of novel mechanisms underlying parturition.

Many genetically altered mice have been used to study single-gene disorders in which the regulation of parturition is defective. Notably, as pointed out by Mitchell and Taggart in a recent review, surprisingly little attention has been given to those mice that exhibit altered myometrial contraction (105). While these authors use this point to emphasize the need to understand how these mouse phenotypes relate to human parturition, we also must fully explore the mechanisms by which these models disrupt or accelerate the process of labor, even when the mechanism is presumed unrelated to uterine contraction. Thus, the field would benefit greatly from an advanced technique, such as radiotelemetry, that makes it possible to measure intrauterine pressure in mice. Figure 3.1: Surgical procedure for implanting uterine telemetry transmitters. (A) A small cut is made at top of the uterine horn. (B) The pressure-catheter lead is carefully pushed into the uterine horn between the fetal sac and uterine wall. (C) A small drop of VetBond© is applied to the incision site to secure the catheter. The transmitter body is placed inside the lower portion of the body cavity, and uterine horn is replaced into the body cavity without disturbing the transmitter implant.



Anterior



Posterior



C.



Posterior



Anterior



Posterior

Figure 3.2: Continuous recording of intrauterine pressure. The graph shows an example of WT intrauterine pressure beginning on P18.5 and continuing through P 20.5, revealing that spikes in intrauterine pressure increase in magnitude and frequency during labor. Alternating white and black bars above the graph indicate light and dark cycles, respectively. The lower black bar indicates the time of delivery.



Figure 3.3: Comparison of *in vivo* and *in vitro* recordings from mice during pregnancy. (A) Sample tracing of WT intrauterine pressure recorded *in vivo* during delivery. (B) Tracing of SK3^{T/T} intrauterine pressure recorded *in vivo* during delivery, demonstrating that pressure waves are not produced as rapidly as in WT mice, and that those produced are not of the same magnitude. (C) Representative isometric tension recording from myometrial strips of a P19 WT mouse, demonstrating a wave pattern similar to that recorded by *in vivo* measurement. (D) Isometric tension recording from a P19 SK3^{T/T} uterus revealed that the frequency and strength of tension peaks are reduced, consistent with results from *in vivo* recordings



Figure 3.4: Fold change in baseline intrauterine pressure, as measured by telemetry, in WT mice during pregnancy. (A) An hourly moving average was calculated for both the 12 hours before delivery (filled circle) and the 12 hours in which delivery occurred (filled square) (N=7). (B) A histogram comparing the frequency of a given pressure for the12-hour period before delivery and for the 12-hour period in which delivery occurred. Pressure shift to the right was seen in the 12 hours during delivery (N=7). Mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.



Figure 3.5: Intrauterine pressure (hourly average) during induced preterm labor in WT mice. Recordings began at 11:00AM and mice were injected with RU486 at 1:00PM (indicated by the arrow). Intrauterine pressure began to increase approximately 8 hours post-injection and peaked 6 hours later.



Figure 3.6: Baseline intrauterine pressure (hourly average) during pregnancy in SK3^{T/T} versus WT mice. In SK3^{T/T} mice that were not able to deliver by P19.5, basal intrauterine pressure did not increase according to the dark cycle in which delivery occurred as it does in WT mice (WT data duplicated from Figure 3.4). SK3^{T/T} mice maintained an intrauterine pressure consistent with the baseline pressure seen in WT mice during the 12-hour cycle before delivery. (WT N=7, SK3 N=3).



Figure 3.7: Hourly averages of SK3^{T/T} intrauterine pressure during delivery. Baseline intrauterine pressure (hourly average) increased above baseline in SK3^{T/T} uteri during delivery, but not to the same extent as that seen during WT delivery (WT data duplicated from Figure 3.4). Baseline intrauterine pressure in SK3^{T/T} mice during delivery also was not gradually elevated as seen in WT mice during delivery. (WT=7, SK3 N=4). Mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.001 vs. WT-Cycle before delivery, † p < 0.05 vs. WT-Cycle in which delivery occurred.



Figure 3.8: Power spectrum of intrauterine pressure during the 12 hours before delivery and the 12 hours in which delivery occurred. (A) The power spectrum of WT baseline intrauterine pressure produced in the 12-hour cycle during delivery increased above the baseline frequency measured during the 12-hour cycle before delivery. Mean \pm SEM. (N=4), $_{-}^{*} p < 0.05$ for period of pre-delivery vs. period in which delivery occurred. (B) The power spectrum generated from SK3^{T/T} intrauterine pressure during the 12-hour cycle in which delivery occurred was not significantly elevated above that for the 12-hour cycle before delivery. (C) Comparison of the normalized power spectra of WT and SK3^{T/T} intrauterine pressure during the 12-hour cycle in which delivery occurred, demonstrating that at certain frequencies more power was produced during WT delivery. Mean \pm SEM. (N=4 for both WT and SK3^{T/T}), $_{-}^{*} p < 0.05$ vs. WT-Cycle in which delivery occurred.





A.







CHAPTER 4 SK3 CHANNEL EXPRESSION DURING PREGNANCY IS REGULATED THROUGH ESTROGEN AND SP FACTOR-MEDIATED TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF THE *KCNN3* GENE

<u>Abstract</u>

Overexpression of the SK3 in transgenic mice compromises parturition, suggesting that SK3 channels play a role in pregnancy. In WT mouse myometrium, expression of SK3 transcript and protein is significantly reduced during pregnancy, but the mechanism(s) responsible for this attenuation of channel expression is unknown. The promoter region of the SK3-encoding mouse *KCNN3* gene contains two binding sites for Sp transcription factors, two of which are expressed in the uterus: Sp1, which enhances gene transcription in response to estrogen; and Sp3, which competes for the same binding motif as Sp1 and can repress gene expression. We investigated the hypothesis that Sp1 and Sp3 regulate SK3 channel expression during pregnancy. In mouse myometrium, Sp1 expression was reduced during late gestation, whereas Sp3 expression levels were constant throughout pregnancy. Using a reporter system, Sp1 overexpression significantly increased SK3 promoter activation and Sp3 co-transfection reduced promoter activation to basal levels. These findings indicate that Sp3 outcompetes Sp1 to decrease SK3 transcription. To determine if high levels of estrogen *in vivo* could affect Sp factors regulation of SK3 protein levels, ovariectomized mice were implanted with a 17ß-estradiol or placebo pellet for three weeks. Estrogen-treated mice had reduced uterine SK3 protein expression compared to placebo-treated. In human myometrial cells overexpressing Sp1, estrogen treatment stimulated expression of SK3 transcript. Overall, our findings indicate that Sp1 and Sp3 compete to regulate SK3 channel expression during pregnancy, in response to stimulation by estrogen.

Introduction

Current tocolytics, medications used to stop preterm labor, are either ineffective or prolong gestation for only 24-48 hours, emphasizing the need for improved methods of preventing preterm labor. Potassium (K⁺) channels are logical targets for tocolytics since their activation produces repolarizing and hyperpolarizing currents that relax myometrium. Additional investigation is needed, however, to confirm that manipulating K⁺ channel function can prevent premature labor contractions. One channel of particular interest is the SK3 (105). Seventy percent of mice that overexpress SK3 channels have a parturition defect that results in either delayed or failed delivery (8). When SK3^{T/T} mice were induced to deliver prematurely with lipopolysaccharide or RU-486, they were unable to fully expel all fetuses, unlike their WT and functional knockout counterparts (120). Our laboratory has shown that uteri of SK3 mice produce less forceful contractions *in vitro*, which may contribute to their inability to deliver (Chapter 2) (120).

In uterine tissue from WT mice, the expression of SK3 channel transcript and protein decreases as pregnancy progresses (Chapter 2) (120), suggesting that downregulation of the SK3 gene, *KCNN3*, may be necessary for parturition. However, the mechanism responsible for the down-regulation of SK3 expression is unknown. A change in the promoter activity of the *KCNN3* gene is one mechanism that could account for the down-regulation of SK3 expression in the uterus prior to delivery. E2, a sex hormone required for the maintenance of pregnancy, enhances SK3 transcript expression despite the fact that *KCNN3* does not contain an estrogen response element (9, 60). Rather, the promoter region of *KCNN3* contains two GC-rich regions that represent binding sites for Sp transcription factors (118, 135, 146). Of this class of transcription factors, Sp1 and Sp3 are expressed ubiquitously, have the same DNA binding properties, and share a similar protein structure (12, 31). Sp1 is a transcriptional activator, whereas Sp3 activates or represses transcription depending on the environment of the promoter (31, 135). Sp3 has multiple isoforms, including short isoforms (Sp3si) that are

transcriptionally inactive and long isoforms (Sp3li) whose transcriptional activity can change based on the promoter context. ER α enhances the ability of Sp1 and Sp3 to bind to DNA. *KCNN3* transcription is increased in the presence of Sp1, and mutational analysis has shown that Sp binding sites on the SK3 promoter are necessary for ER α mediated enhancement of SK3 expression (60). However, the mechanism underlying transcriptional regulation of this channel—which is a key contributor of myometrial quiescence during pregnancy—has not been identified. Here we assessed whether Sp factors regulate transcriptional activity and expression of SK3 channels during pregnancy.

Materials and methods

Animals and breeding protocol

All animal procedures used in this study complied with the guidelines for the care and use of animals set forth by the NIH, and were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Iowa. Adult C57BL/6 female mice were mated between 8 weeks to 8 months of age. Day 0 of pregnancy was determined based on the presence of a copulatory plug. Mice were euthanized by CO₂ inhalation on specific days relative to pregnancy duration (NP, P7, P14, P18 and PP2).

Human tissue collection

Human myometrial tissue from the lower uterine segment was obtained from patients who, in the absence (non-labor (NL)) or presence (laboring (L)) of labor contractions (spontaneous or induced), underwent Cesarean section during late pregnancy (38-40 wk gestation) while under spinal anesthesia. NP tissue was isolated from uteri removed for hysterectomies. All patients signed written consent forms approved by the University of Iowa's Internal Review Board (approval no. 199809066).

Immunoblotting

Mouse and human uterine tissues were isolated, flash frozen, and homogenized, and whole cell lysates were prepared as previously described (4). Following protein quantitation by BCA, equal amounts of protein were separated by SDS-PAGE. Immunoblots using mouse protein were probed with rabbit polyclonal anti-Sp1 or anti-Sp3 (1:250 dilution, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, Santa Cruz, CA) and HRPconjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:3000 dilution, Pierce, Rockford, II). Immunoblots using human protein were probed with rabbit polyclonal anti-SK3 Nterminal primary antibody (1:100 dilution, Alomone Labs, Jerusalem, Israel) and HRPconjugated goat anti-rabbit Fc secondary antibody (1:3000 dilution, Pierce, Rockford, II). To assure equal loading, the blots were re-probed with anti-GAPDH primary antibody (1:1000, Chemicon, Temecula, CA) and HRP-conjugated mouse anti-goat secondary antibody (1:3000 dilution, Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA). Signal was detected by chemiluminescence (ECL Western Blotting Detection Reagents, Buckinghamshire, UK or SuperSignal West Femto Maximum Sensitivity Substrate Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Sp1/Sp3 and SK3 protein expression was quantitated using densitometry (ImageJ, NIH) and normalized to GAPDH.

Design of SK3 promoter construct

An 875 bp fragment (containing both Sp binding sites) of the 5' promoter region of the *KCNN3* gene was prepared by PCR amplification of mouse uterine genomic DNA, using a sense primer containing a KpnI restriction site and an antisense primer containing a SacI restriction site (5' CAGGAGTGGGTCCCTTCTGC 3', 5'

TTGGGGCCTGGCTGAGTT 3'). The PCR product was purified by agarose gel electrophoresis, extracted from gel slices (QIAquick; Qiagen Inc., Chatsworth, CA) and cloned into the pCRII vector (Invitrogen, San Diego, CA). Following restriction digestion with KpnI and SacI, the SK3 promoter fragment was directionally cloned into

the pGL3-Basic luciferase reporter vector (Promega, Madison, WI) between unique KpnI and SacI sites, to generate the SK3/luciferase reporter construct. The plasmid constructs pPac, pPac Sp1, pPac Sp3 Complete (short isoform, Sp3si), and pPac Sp3 New (long isoform, Sp3li) were a kind gift from Dr. Guntram Suske.

SL2 transfection and bioluminescence imaging

Schneider's *Drosophila* cell line 2 (SL2) (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was cultured in Schneider's insect medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum and 50 units/mL penicillin/streptomycin at room temperature. SL2 cells $(3 \times 10^{6} \text{ cells per well in 6-well plate})$ were seeded the day before transfection. Cells were transfected with the SK3/luciferase construct and the pPac, pPac Sp1, pPac Sp3 short isoform (si), or pPac Sp3 long isoform (li) using the calcium phosphate method. The medium was changed 24 hours post transfection, and 1×10^{5} cells of each transfection were analyzed with the Luciferase Assay System (Promega, Madison, WI) for bioluminescence, using an IVIS 100 imaging system (Caliper Life Sciences, Hopkinton, MA).

Transfection of adherent human myometrial cells

Human myometrial tissue from non-laboring patients were used to isolate hMSMCs within 1-3 h of collection, as previously described (75). For these experiments, adherent cells were trypsinized, plated in fresh dishes, and grown for two additional days until they reached 70-80% confluency, at which point they were transfected with constructs pN3 and pN3-Sp1FL-Complete (gifts from Dr. Guntram Suske) using Lipofectamine LTX and PLUS reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), following the instructions provided.

RNA Isolation and qPCR analysis

The Total RNA mini kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA) was used to obtain total RNA from human uterine tissue and cultured hMSMCs. Total RNA was reverse transcribed using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (BioRad, Hercules, CA) to generate cDNA. The cDNA was amplified in triplicate with SYBR Green Supermix (BioRad, Hercules, CA), using primers specific for human *SK3* channels (5' GAGCGTCAAGATGGAACAGA 3', 5' ATCTTGGAAAGGTCCACCAG 3'), Sp1 (5' GCTACCTTGACTCCCAGCTC 3', 5' TGGAACTGGCTTGTGATGAT 3') or GAPDH (5' TCAAGAAGGTGGTGAAGCAG 3', 5' CGCTGTTGAAGTCAGAGGAG). GAPDH served as a standard to normalize gene expression.

Ovariectomy and E2 pellet implantation of C57BL/6 mice

Mice were anesthetized with IP ketamine (91 mg/kg) xylazine (9.1 mg/kg IP) mix and ovariectomized as previously described (41). Twenty-one day release 17ß-estradiol 0.5 mg pellets or placebo pellets (Innovative Research, Sarasota, FL) were implanted subcutaneously at the time of the surgery. Three weeks post-surgery, mice were euthanized by CO₂ and blood extracted for measurement of serum estradiol, using the EIA kit (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI). The uterus was removed, flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for protein isolation (for placebo treated mice, 3 uteri were pooled together per sample) and immunoblotting.

Statistical analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Statistical significance was determined by one-way and two-way ANOVA where appropriate, followed by post-hoc comparison using Student t-tests. Non-parametric data analysis was used to evaluate hMSMC transfection experiments, with "0" assigned for a less than 10% change in expression, "+" for a 10% increase in transcript expression, and "-" for a 10% decrease in transcript expression compared to control vector. Significance was determined at p < 0.05. N refers to the number of animals in all cases.

<u>Results</u>

The Sp1:Sp3 protein ratio shifts during mouse gestation.

We began our study by assessing whether the levels of Sp1 and Sp3 protein change during pregnancy. Western blotting showed that the expression of Sp1 protein was prominent in NP and P7 myometrium but decreased significantly by P14 and remained low until after delivery (Figure 4.1A). In contrast, Sp3si levels remained at the level in NP tissue throughout gestation. We did not detect Sp3li in the mouse uterus by Western blotting (data not shown). Densitometry-based quantitation of immunoblots confirmed that Sp1 was significantly downregulated by P14 compared to NP levels, while Sp3 levels remained constant (Figure 4.1B) (N=3-7). Thus, in the mouse uterus, Sp1 protein decreased from levels detected in NP tissue throughout mid-gestation and remained low throughout pregnancy, whereas Sp3si expression was sustained at levels in uteri from NP mice.

KCNN3 promoter activation in mouse is regulated by the

Sp1:Sp3 protein ratio

To investigate how Sp1 and Sp3 regulate expression of endogenous SK3 channels, we generated a luciferase reporter plasmid driven by the mouse *KCNN3* promoter. In this system, fold-changes in luciferase activity, as measured by bioluminescence imaging, correspond to changes in SK3 channel expression. The reporter plasmid was co-transfected with plasmids expressing Sp1, Sp3si, or Sp3li into *Drosophila* SL2 cells, which lack endogenous Sp transcription factors. Although both the short and long isoforms of Sp3 bind the promoter and reduce promoter activation (Figure 4.2A), only the short isoform was detected in mouse myometrium by

immunoblotting, and was pursued in these experiments (data not shown). As illustrated in Figure 4.2B, Sp1 enhanced luciferase expression nearly 3.5-fold by 24 hours after transfection, and Sp3si alone reduced it 2.6-fold (Figure 4.2A), with respect to luminescence detected in the vector control. Furthermore, in the presence of Sp1, Sp3si suppressed SK3 transcriptional activation in a concentration dependent manner (N=6). Thus, Sp1 expression enhanced SK3 promoter activation, whereas Sp3si reduced Sp1induced SK3 promoter activation.

SK3 expression decreases in estrogen treated mice

Estrogen levels increase during pregnancy and may contribute to the downregulation of SK3 channels by modulating the binding of Sp1/Sp3 to the SK3 promoter. We used an *in vivo* approach to test whether estrogen is an endogenous regulator. Mice were ovariectomized and implanted with placebo or a 17 β -estradiol pellet to assess whether estrogen treatment regulates expression of the SK3 channel protein in the uterus. Three weeks after ovariectomy and pellet implantation, serum samples were taken and uteri were isolated from mice and total lysates were prepared. Estradiol levels were 961 \pm 76 pg/mL in 17 β -estradiol treated mice (N=6) while estradiol levels were below detectable levels (<20 pg/mL) in placebo treated mice (N=11). Immunoblotting showed that while SK3 channel protein was present in the placebo-treated mice, it was nearly absent in the estradiol-treated mice (Figure 4.3A). Quantitation demonstrated that SK3 protein was decreased by 42% in the uteri of the estradiol-treated mice (Figure 4.3B). Hence estrogen reduced SK3 protein expression in mouse uteri *in vivo*.

Uterine SK3 channel expression decreases during

pregnancy in humans

To determine if the observed decrease in mouse SK3 channel expression during pregnancy represents a pattern shared with the human uterus, we isolated RNA from NP, NL or L tissue (N=3). qPCR analyses confirmed that SK3 transcript was reduced in NL

and L tissue compared to NP myometrium (Figure 4.4A). To assess whether the levels of SK3 protein mimic transcript expression, we carried out immunoblotting with SK3-specific antibodies. Total cell lysates extracted from NP, NL, and L myometrium showed that SK3 protein expression in humans decreases by late gestation compared to NP (Figure 4.4B). Quantitation of the blots by densitometry verified that SK3 protein is down-regulated in human uterine samples from late gestation (Figure 4.4C) (N=4). Thus, consistent with our findings in mice, SK3 channels in the human uterus are down-regulated during late gestation.

SK3 channel expression increases in estrogen-treated

hMSMCs overexpressing Sp1

Similar to the mouse *KCNN3* promoter, the human promoter contains two Sp binding sites, and the expression of SK3 in human uteri is diminished during pregnancy (Figure 4.4). We determined whether estrogen enhances SK3 channel expression in hMSMCs when Sp1 levels are elevated. Human MSMCs were transfected with Sp1 or the control vector. Cells were treated with vehicle or 17ß-estradiol (0.1nM-10nM) for 48 hours, and SK3 transcript was measured by qPCR. Due to variability between patient uterine samples, non-parametric data analysis was carried out by assigning a value of "0" for no change in transcript expression, "+" for an increase in transcript expression, and "-" for a decrease in transcript expression compared to levels produced in cells transfected with the control vector in the absence of E2 (0nM E2) within each experiment. As seen in Table 4.1, SK3 transcript increased consistently in cells transfected with Sp1, even in the absence of E2 (0nM E2). This result demonstrated that Sp1 overexpression alone is sufficient to increase SK3 expression. Treatment with 10nM and 5nM E2 also enhanced SK3 transcript expression in hMSMCs when transfected with Sp1. This implies that although estrogen may lead to SK3 down-regulation during pregnancy, it upregulates SK3 in hMSMCs provided that Sp1 is in abundance.

Discussion

The uterus is a dynamic organ that switches from a relaxed state early in pregnancy to a powerful contractile state in late pregnancy in order to facilitate expulsion of the fetus. One determinant of uterine quiescence is the activity of myometrial K⁺ channels (69, 86). Generating both repolarizing and hyperpolarizing currents in MSMCs, these channels contribute significantly to uterine quiescence (19, 85). Accordingly, their activities must be regulated as pregnancy progresses, so that myometrial quiescence is maintained until labor. As such, in the myometrium, the level of expression, the density, and the properties of K⁺ channels change dynamically throughout pregnancy (68, 86, 120). The K⁺ channels most intensely studied during pregnancy and parturition are the ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel, *Shaker*-like voltage-gated K⁺ channels, the large-conductance calcium- and voltage-sensitive K⁺ channel, and the small conductance calcium-activated K⁺ channel.

To date, the SK3 channel is the only one in which overexpression in transgenic mouse models was reported to delay or impede parturition (8). Despite the interesting parturition phenotype of SK3-overexpressing mice, little information previously existed on the mechanisms by which SK3 channels are regulated in normal pregnancy, or on how this leads to a modification of myometrial function. SK3-channel function can be altered through transcription from alternate promoters, resulting in the expression of dominantnegative forms of the channel that can attenuate current and significantly enhance cell excitability (74, 158). Previous transcriptional studies using Cos7 cells demonstrated that Sp1 can augment SK3 channel expression (60). We were able to demonstrate that whereas Sp1 activated the SK3 promoter, Sp3si reduced this *KCNN3* promoter activation in a dose-dependent matter. In addition, we showed that Sp1 protein was remarkably diminished in pregnant myometrium while Sp3si levels remained constant, suggesting that the physiological balance between Sp1 and Sp3 during pregnancy may underlie the regulation of SK3 channels and modulate the excitability of myometrial cells during pregnancy. These results suggest that the constant Sp3si protein levels seen during pregnancy may partially account for the reduction in the SK3 channel expression in mouse uterus, and that they may aid in the transition to a laboring state. However the mouse *KCNN3* promoter contains multiple additional transcription factor binding sites that can potentially influence SK3 channel expression. For example, the cyclic AMP response elements (CRE), the Nkx-2 homeobox protein, and GATA transcription factors, are all expressed in the uterus and may influence transcription of the SK3 channel. In particular, levels of the CRE binding protein were reduced in both human laboring uterine tissue and mouse uterine tissue at term (24), and estrogen also enhances the CRE binding protein (16). Further investigation is needed to understand the complex nature of transcriptional regulation of the *KCNN3* promoter during pregnancy.

Hormones may contribute to SK3 changes during pregnancy. Hormones and other second messengers modulate the transcription of multiple ion-channel genes, including those encoding the voltage-gated K^+ channels Kv4.2 and Kv1.5 (40, 64, 167) and the BK channel-encoding mouse *slo* gene (76). While many of these channel genes contain hormone-response elements within the promoter, others contain transcription factor binding sites that either complement these elements or themselves provide hormone-responsiveness. For example, many genes regulated by progesterone do not contain progesterone response elements (105). For the SK3 channel in particular, injecting 17β -estradiol into the rostral hypothalamus of ovariectomized guinea pigs increases SK3 mRNA levels (9), indicating that estrogen may contribute to SK3 regulation in myometrium during pregnancy. Previous studies showed that estrogen increases SK3 channel expression despite the fact that the KCNN3 promoter does not contain an estrogen response element; thus Sp binding sites play an important role in the genomic regulation by estrogen (60). Our lab has shown that SK3 channel expression decreases during pregnancy, occurring simultaneously with a rise in estrogen levels. In the mouse, estrogen levels range from 390 pg/ml in NP tissue to as high as 1801 pg/ml

during pregnancy (169). We hypothesized that if estrogen contributes to down-regulation of uterine SK3 channels during mouse pregnancy, 17ß-estradiol treatment could mimic this response in NP animals. Our *in vivo* approach using ovariectomized mice implanted with a 17ß-estradiol pellet exhibited estrogen levels similar to those in pregnancy reduce SK3 channel expression. This indicates that, although estrogen can stimulate Sp1 activation of the *KCNN3* gene, the physiological balance between Sp factors likely regulates SK3 channel expression *in vivo*.

While SK3 channel expression plays an important role in mouse parturition, its regulation in humans has not been explored previously. In this study we showed that, as is the case in mice, in humans SK3 transcript and protein were downregulated in myometrium during late pregnancy (120). In addition, both mouse and human contained two Sp binding sites in the KCNN3 promoter, suggesting that the regulatory mechanism was conserved. When Sp1 was overexpressed in human MSMCs that were then treated with 17ß-estradiol, there was a trend toward an increase in SK3 channel expression. However, there was considerable variability in the magnitude of this effect. This variability in human samples could be a consequence of reduced expression of estrogen receptors in cultured myometrial cells, or variability between levels of estrogen in the patient samples (23, 137). Changes in the density of the estrogen receptor in hMSMCs could greatly influence variability in these experiments, since the experiments involve indirect binding of the estrogen receptor to the promoter region of SK3. However, this dilemma was avoided by comparing expression levels within each primary culture experiment. We concluded that estrogen reduces SK3 expression in the uterus *in vivo* (Figure 4.3), but can also promotes SK3 channel expression in the presence of overexpressed Sp1 (Table 1), as found in previous studies (9, 60).

In conclusion, Sp1 was decreased in the uterus of the mouse during pregnancy, whereas Sp3si remained at a constant level. With an abundance of Sp3si in comparison to Sp1, Sp3si is more likely to bind to Sp binding sites and reduce the expression of

84

transcripts such as *KCNN3*. Estrogen enhanced the binding of Sp factors and contributed to Sp3si binding of the SK3 promoter during pregnancy to further diminish expression levels. Although multiple mechanisms may contribute to the regulation of SK3 channels during pregnancy, the reported studies demonstrated that an ion channel important to myometrial excitability during pregnancy was controlled via transcriptional regulation.

Figure 4.1: Western blot analysis of whole-cell lysates from mouse uteri. Protein was extracted at different stages of pregnancy (NP, P7, P14, P18 and PP2) and separated by SDS-PAGE. Blots were probed with antibodies against Sp1, Sp3 and GAPDH, which served as a loading control. (A) Sp1 protein was prominent only in NP and P7 tissue, decreasing by P14, whereas Sp3 protein levels were similar in all tissue. (B) Quantitation of Sp1 and Sp3 protein levels, with data normalized to GAPDH protein levels (N=3-7). Mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.05 vs. NP, † p <0.05 vs. Sp1.



Figure 4.2: Sp3 competes with Sp1 to decrease SK3 promoter activation. *Drosophila* SL2 cells were co-transfected with an SK3 promoter-driven luciferase gene and (A) the Pac vector (control), Sp3si, Sp3li, or (B) Sp1 plus Sp3si at various concentrations. Bioluminescence was quantified, verifying that Sp3si and Sp3li alone can reduce SK3 promoter activation (N=4-6). Mean \pm SEM. * p<0.05 vs. Pac. (B) Sp3si dose-dependently reduced Sp1 activation of the SK3 promoter (N=6). Mean \pm SEM. * p<0.05 vs. Sp1.


Figure 4.3: Estrogen depletion reduces SK3 channel expression in mouse uteri. Uterine whole-cell lysates were prepared 3 weeks after ovariectomy and pellet implantation (17ß-estradiol or placebo), and proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE. Blots were probed with antibodies against SK3 and GAPDH (loading control). (A) SK3 protein diminished in the presence of estrogen, but was augmented with placebo treatment. (B) Quantification of SK3 protein levels normalized to GAPDH loading control (N=6). Mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.05 vs. placebo.

90



Figure 4.4: Decrease in SK3 channel expression in human uteri at term. (A) qPCR analysis of SK3 transcript demonstrated a decline at term in both NL and L tissue compared to NP uterine samples (N=3). (B) Western immunoblotting of lysates from human uteri confirmed that SK3 protein was down-regulated at term. (C) Quantification of SK3 protein levels normalized to GAPDH protein (N=4). Mean \pm SEM. * p < 0.05 vs. NP.



Construct	Vector	Vector	Sp1 *	Sp1 *	Sp1 *	Sp1	Sp1	Sp1
Estradiol	0nM	10nM	0nM	10nM	5nM	1nM	0.5nM	0.1nM
Patient 1	0	+	-	+	+	0	0	-
Patient 2	0	0	+	+	+	+	+	-
Patient 3	0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Patient 4	0	0	+	-	+	0	-	-
Patient 5	0	-	+	+	+	+	+	0
Patient 6	0	0	+	+	0	0	0	+
Patient 7	0	0	+	+	+	+	+	+
Patient 8	0	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

Table 4.1: SK3 channel levels increase with Sp1 overexpression and E2 treatment.

Note: Cultured hMSMCs were transfected with vector control or Sp1-containing vector. Cells were treated with 17ß-estradiol (10nM-0.1nM) or vehicle control. Cells were collected after 48 hours, and transcript analysis was carried out using qPCR and normalizing to GAPDH. Due to variability in human uterine patient samples, each experiment was assigned a nominal value with reference to control-treated cells, to indicate a decrease of less than 10% (-), no change (0) or an increase of more than 10% (+) in the expression of SK3 transcript (N=8). * p < 0.05 vs. control.

CHAPTER 5 OVEREXPRESSION OF SK3 CHANNELS INDUCES MATERNAL VASCULAR AND PLACENTAL ABNORMALITIES LEADING TO FETAL DEMISE

<u>Abstract</u>

During pregnancy, the vasculature adapts to accommodate the dramatic increases in blood volume that are necessary to sustain the developing fetus. Potassium channels that promote vasodilation and proliferation are required for this pregnancy-associated vascular remodeling. Overexpression of the SK3 channel leads to abnormal vessel branching and increased vessel diameter in the mesenteric circulation of SK3^{T/T} mice. Thus, vascular remodeling may contribute to our recent finding that SK3^{T/T}mice have fewer pups per litter than WT (WT=6.7±0.73, SK3=3.58±0.45). We sought to determine if overexpression of SK3 channels in mice results in placental abnormalities that could lead to fetal demise and resorption accounting for the decreased litter size. While systolic blood pressure was normal in non-pregnant and pregnant SK3^{T/T} mice, heart rate was elevated, implicating a role for this channel in cardiovascular regulation. The same branch order of arteries (isolated and pressurized at 40mmHg) from SK3^{T/T} mice had a larger basal diameter compared to their WT counterparts (WT=231.8±25.4 µm vs. SK3=342.6 \pm 12.3 µm), suggesting that basal tone was decreased in these transgenic mice. Constriction of uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice in response to thromboxane A₂ mimetic U46619 was reduced compared to WT mice. Placental weight and morphology differed between SK3^{T/T} and WT mice, with an increased vessel number, diameter, and areas of necrosis and rarefaction observed in SK3^{T/T} placentas. Finally, oxidative stress in placentas from SK3^{T/T} dams was normal early in gestation (P9-10), but there was a trend of elevated levels late in gestation (P18). These data demonstrate that the SK3 channel

contributes to the development and maintenance of the maternal vasculature and placenta, and emphasizes the importance of K^+ channels in placentation.

Introduction

During pregnancy, proper blood flow through the placenta is essential to provide oxygen and nutrients as well as eliminate waste from the fetus. Abnormalities in the placenta can result in preeclampsia, birth defects, and spontaneous abortion. During early stages of pregnancy the placenta develops in a low oxygen environment (49) due to endovascular cytotrophoblast cells that block uterine spiral arterioles, limiting blood flow to the fetus. The opening of these arterioles later in pregnancy rapidly increases oxygen tension, and initiates angiogenesis of the placental vasculature to maintain the fetus. To date, approximately 50% of conceptions are thought to end in miscarriages (61, 145). A better understanding of the mechanisms responsible for the development and maintenance of the vasculature in this specialized organ could reveal mechanisms underlying miscarriage and ultimately improve both maternal and fetal outcomes.

During pregnancy, the vascular system must adapt to accommodate dramatic increases in blood volume necessary to sustain the developing fetus. A contributing factor to vascular remodeling is K^+ channel expression, which contributes to vessel dilation, proliferation, and angiogenesis (102). One particular channel, the SK3 channel, is absent in vascular smooth muscle cells but is abundant in vascular endothelial cells under normal conditions (14, 152). Overexpression of this channel causes abnormal vessel branching and an increase in vessel diameter in mesenteric arteries of SK3^{T/T} mice (152). Similar changes in branching and diameter of the uterine artery and vessels within the placenta could dramatically affect blood flow to the fetus. SK3 channels are expressed in atrial and ventricular myocytes and the SK3 gene was recently linked to lone atrial fibrillation (35, 156). To date fetal demise has not been associated with SK3 channels in humans or mice. However considering the impact placental development has

on fetal outcome, overexpression of SK3 channels could result in an increase in the number of spiral arteries and a decrease in vascular tone with the end result of fetal demise and resorption.

Methods

Mouse breeding

All animal procedures complied with the guidelines for the care and use of animals set forth by the NIH. All protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Iowa. SK3^{T/T} mice on a C57BL/6 background were used for this study (8). Adult female mice were mated at 8 weeks of age or later with an adult WT male to ensure a heterozygous offspring and control for the maternal contribution to placentation. Day 0 of pregnancy was determined based on the presence of a copulatory plug.

Measurement of uterine artery reactivity

Vascular responses were measured as described previously (77) in uterine arteries from WT and SK3^{T/T} mice in response to apamin (SK3 blocker) and agonist induced constrictions. Non-pregnant WT and SK3^{T/T} mice were euthanized with sodium pentobarbital (150 mg/kg IP). The uterus was excised and placed in ice-cold Krebs buffer. The main uterine artery was dissected of fat and connective tissue and tied with ophthalmic suture (10-O) onto a glass micropipette filled with Krebs (in mM: 118.3 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 1.2 MgSO₄, 1.2 KH2PO₄, 25 NaHCO₃, 2.5 CaCl₂, 5 d-glucose, pH 7.4) in an oxygenated organ bath. The vessel was secured to the pipette with 10-O ophthalmic suture and the bath was continuously circulated with oxygenated Krebs (5% CO₂, 20% O₂, balance N₂). The diameter of the vessel was measured using a video dimension analyzer system. Vessels were equilibrated for 30 minutes before study. To ensure viability of vessels, constriction to increasing amounts of KCl (25-75 mM) was measured in each vessel. The thromboxane A₂ mimetic U46619 (1-5 μ M) was added to compare vasoconstrictor responses between WT and SK3^{T/T} uterine arteries. After U46619 induced constriction, acetylcholine (1 μ M) was added to test endothelial function. After washing, apamin (200-500 nM) was added to determine SK3 contribution to basal tone of the uterine arteries in WT and SK3^{T/T} mice.

Litter counts and ultrasound imaging of fetal viability

Ultrasonography was performed to determine fetal viability. Imaging was performed with the HP Sonos 5500 ultrasound (Philips, Bothell, WA) with a 15 MHz linear array oscillator (resolution ~0.1 mm) on P14. After shaving of the abdomen, midazolam was administered (0.30 mg; SQ) to reduce animal movement during imaging. Fetal death was determined by an abundance of homogeneous fluids in fetal sac, absence of fetuses when compared to prior images, or lack of fetal heartbeat (28). Litter size was determined by counting the number of pups at delivery or by excising the uterus after euthanasia of the mouse on P7-9, P13-14 and P18-19.

Measurement of heart rate and blood pressures

Heart rate (HR) and systolic blood pressure (SBP) were measured by a computerized tail-cuff procedure (BP-2000 system; Visitech Systems, Apex, NC). Cardiovascular measurements were taken for 5 days for habituation prior to breeding. Measurements of blood pressures were restarted 6-7 days after identification of a copulatory plug and continued everyday throughout gestation. The mean of 20 measurements per day was obtained for each animal.

Measurement of fetal and placental weights

WT and SK3^{T/T} fetuses were excised from the uterus on P18 and all fetal membranes were removed. Placentas were also detached from the uterine wall and

separated from fetal membranes. Weights were recorded for each pup and placenta separately.

Histological analysis of placental development

WT and SK3^{T/T} mice were euthanized during gestation (P9, 10, 14, 18). The uterus was removed and cut into sections between fetal sacs, fixed in 4% paraformeldehyde (24 hours), and embedded in paraffin wax. Placentas were oriented either vertically or horizontally to determine vascularization from both angles. Tissue sections (5 μ m) were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) to observe any gross morphologic changes in the placental layers, and alterations in placental density and necrosis.

Measurement of oxidative stress in placenta

Oxidative stress was measured in placental tissue using an 8-Isoprostane EIA kit (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI). Placentas from P9, 10 and 18 mice were excised and homogenized promptly and kit instructions were followed accordingly to determine the levels of excessive oxidative stress in SK3^{T/T} mouse placenta compared to WT by measuring 8-isoprostane levels using a microplate reader at a wavelength of 405 nm.

Results

Larger basal diameter and reduced vasoconstriction in $SK3^{T/T}$ uterine arteries

The maternal vasculature of the placenta plays an important role in the regulation of blood flow to the fetus. Morphologic vascular abnormalities were reported in mesenteric arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice (152). Based on these findings, uterine arteries may undergo similar malformations. To test this hypothesis, the main uterine arteries from NP WT and SK3^{T/T} mice were removed and vascular reactivity was measured. Baseline diameters of SK3^{T/T} uterine arteries were significantly larger compared to WT (Figure 5.1A). Apamin (200 nM), an inhibitor of SK3 channels, caused a greater increase in basal tone in arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice compared to WT but this trend did not reach significance (Figure 5.1B). Constriction of uterine arteries from WT and SK3^{T/T} to KC1 (25 and 50 mM) was similar (Figure 5.1C) suggesting that contractile responses were intact. However constriction to the thromboxane mimetic, U46619, was attenuated in SK3 mice compared to WT (Figure 5.1D). These studies indicate overexpression of SK3 channels in the vasculature resulted in a dampened constriction in both basal and postagonist stimulation. This would suggest that these mice would have enhanced blood flow through the uterine artery.

SK3^{T/T} mice yield fewer pups per litter

Vascular abnormalities in SK3^{T/T} mice (152) may in part contribute to fetal demise considering the dependence of the developing fetus on the maternal vasculature. An additional phenotype of SK3^{T/T} mice that was discovered in our laboratory was a decrease in litter size (Figure 5.2B). The mechanism(s) behind the reduction in litter size is unknown. If overexpression of SK3 channels was able to produce vascular abnormalities in the placenta similar to the mesenteric circulation, this could result in resorption of the fetus. Doppler ultrasound analysis of SK3^{T/T} mice at P14 showed an increased occurrence of fetal sacs with dark, homogeneous-fluid, indicative of fetal resorption in these animals (Figure 5.2C). When we counted the number of pups in WT vs. SK3^{T/T} mice at various stages of pregnancy, litter size was significant decreased at P13-14, while earlier in pregnancy (P7-9) pup number was similar to WT (Figure 5.2A). This indicates that cardiovascular changes that occur after P9 may result in fetal demise.

Normal blood pressure measurements but increased heart

rate in transgenic mice

During pregnancy maternal blood volume increases 45-50% in humans and the vascular system must adapt to these volumes without dramatic changes in blood pressure.

Low or high blood pressure during gestation can result in poor fetal outcome (66, 168). Non-pregnant SK3^{T/T} mice have normal blood pressure when compared to WT mice (152). To determine whether pregnancy induces abnormal blood pressure in SK3^{T/T} mice, tailcuff plethysmography was used to measure heart rate and systolic pressures in NP mice and pregnant mice throughout gestation (Figure 5.3). Systolic blood pressures were similar between WT and SK3^{T/T} mice throughout gestation, demonstrating that pregnancy did not cause abnormal changes in blood pressure in SK3^{T/T} mice. However, heart rate was elevated in NP SK3^{T/T} mice at baseline (Figure 5.3A) and during gestation (Figure 5.3B) compared to WT mice.

Placental weight increased but fetal weight normal in *SK3*^{T/T}

Based on the changes in uterine artery constriction and heart rate in SK3^{T/T} compared to WT mice, we assessed whether these alterations resulted in abnormal growth of the fetus and placenta. To investigate whether pups that survive to term have abnormal growth or development, fetuses and placentas were weighed on P18 to test for differences between WT and SK3^{T/T} dams. Fetal weights were the same between the two groups (Figure 5.4B), but placental weight increased an average of 32.9±8 mg in SK3^{T/T} dams (Figure 5.4A). Increases in placental weight could be associated with a change in morphology of the placenta.

Morphologic abnormalities detected in SK3^{T/T} placentas

In order to determine differences in morphology of WT versus SK3^{T/T} placentas, placental tissue was isolated from viable fetuses throughout gestation, fixed, embedded, sectioned and stained with H&E. There were marked structural differences between the placentas observed in these mice. The decidua of the SK3^{T/T} placenta appeared thin in comparison to WT (Figure 5.5A and B) suggesting SK3 channels affect the process of decidualization and placenta formation. Similar to the mesenteric vasculature, there

appeared to be an increased number of maternal vessels entering the placenta of SK3^{T/T} mice compared to WT (Figure 5.5C and D). Further observation showed that the blood vessels of the SK3^{T/T} placenta were enlarged, which may be related to the decreased basal tone and agonist-induced constriction measured in isolated vessels. However, there was also a notable degree of necrosis of the vessel wall in both the maternal and fetal portions of the placenta from SK3 mice. The placenta also showed reduced tissue density in areas of the decidua from SK3^{T/T} mice (Figure 5.5F). Even though the fetuses survived up to P18 (the day before delivery), there were numerous morphologic deficiencies noticed in the placenta.

Oxidative stress levels were similar between WT and $SK3^{T/T}$ mice

A premature delivery of oxygen to the placenta could lead to an increase in oxidative stress before protective mechanisms have developed in the fetus. This may contribute to a decreased littersize in SK3^{T/T} mice. To test whether oxidative stress was elevated at P9, P10, and P18 in SK3^{T/T} mice, a marker for oxidative stress, 8-isoprostane, was measured by enzyme immunoassay (Figure 5.6). There was no evidence of enhanced oxidative stress since levels of isoprostane were similar in placentas from P9 (Figure 5.6A) and P10 (Figure 5.6B) WT and SK3^{T/T} mice. However, placentas tested from P18 mice showed a trend toward elevated oxidative stress in SK3^{T/T} mice (Figure 5.6C). These results would suggest that an increase in oxidative stress early in pregnancy was not the cause for fetal demise in the SK3^{T/T} mice.

Discussion

The discovery that SK3^{T/T} mice exhibit abnormal vascular morphology in the mesenteric circulation begged the question whether these abnormities were restricted to this vascular bed, or if SK3 channels influenced morphology in other organs or vascular beds. We found that basal diameters of uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice were increased

53% compared to WT. This decrease in basal tone was likely related to the dilating properties of K⁺ channel activation. K⁺ channels are essential regulators of placental vasculature tone and blood flow to the placenta (160). Overexpression of SK3 channels also reduced receptor-mediated vasoconstriction to thromboxane A₂ mimetic U46619 in uterine arteries. These data suggest that along with an increase in diameter, uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice also lacked the ability to constrict to receptor-mediated agonists to the levels measured in arteries from WT mice. In contrast, arteries constricted normally to KCl, likely because KCl elicits non-receptor mediated depolarization of the membrane and activation of voltage-gated calcium channels (124). This implies that uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice constrict normally when activated by direct membrane depolarization rather than G-protein coupled pathways. How these changes in uterine artery function affect pregnancy outcomes was unclear.

Despite abnormalities in the vasculature of SK3^{T/T} mice, the possible role of these channels in promoting fetal demise has not been examined. The reduction in the number of pups per litter from SK3^{T/T} mice suggested that these transgenic mice were consistently resorbing approximately 50% of their pups. At P7-9, SK3^{T/T} mice had litter sizes similar in size to WT mice, but as gestation progressed, litter sizes were reduced by more than half in the SK3^{T/T} mice, often exhibiting fetal demise and resorption. With the increased diameter and reduced agonist response of uterine arteries in SK3^{T/T} mice, a premature increase of oxidative stress was a suspected cause of resorption. We measured 8-isoprostane from P9-10, a critical point in placental development and near the time fetal demise occurs in these mice, but our results confirmed that oxidative stress early in gestation was not the source of fetal death. Placentas taken from P18 mice showed a trend for increased oxidative stress but at this point any remaining pups are most likely to survive. The altered tone of uterine arteries in SK3^{T/T} dams may contribute to an increase in blood flow and fetal demise in these animals.

Regulation of SK3 channel expression may prevent cardiovascular-related disorders during pregnancy. Blood pressure regulation in SK3^{T/T} mice was normal, but the increased cardiac demands of pregnancy could contribute to abnormalities in vascular morphology and heart rate (152). Consistent with previous studies, blood pressures of pregnant SK3^{T/T} mice were comparable to WT mice. However, heart rates were elevated before and during pregnancy in SK3^{T/T} mice. While blood pressure was normal, the elevated heart rate could be compensating for other cardiovascular defects not yet detected. Expression of SK3 channels in atrial and ventricular pacemaker regions may contribute to the rise in heart rate, which may lead to an increase in cardiac output but cardiac output was not determined in $SK3^{T/T}$ mice (156). The role of SK3 channels in the heart is unknown, but the closely related SK2 channel, which is predominately expressed in atrial myocytes, contributes to myocyte depolarization and fibrillation (83). Recently, genome wide association studies have identified an association between KCNN3 (SK3 channel gene) and lone atrial fibrillation in humans (35). The region of the KCNN3 gene that was linked to patients with lone atrial fibrillation has not been identified, but supports a role for SK3 channels in cardiovascular regulation that could potentially affect pregnancy outcomes.

K⁺ channels and endothelial cells are known contributors to regulation of angiogenesis and proliferation of blood vessels. Recently the intermediate conductance calcium activated channel (IK1), closely related to the SK3 channel, was directly linked to angiogenesis of human umbilical veins (47). Blockade of the IK1 resulted in a reduction of vessel outgrowth *in vivo*. Also, EDHF, another factor that regulates angiogenesis (101), was completely blocked by apamin and TRAM-1 treatment (SK3 and IK1 blockers respectfully) (22). SK3 channels also regulated cell migration in breast cancer (122), which could contribute to endothelial cell migration, an essential step of angiogenesis (127). With the abnormal branching produced in mesenteric arteries and the maternal portion of the placenta, defects in blood vessel development may be a generalized phenomenon in SK3^{T/T} mice. Future studies are needed to determine whether SK3 channels play a role in angiogenesis, which could greatly influence many organ systems and pathologies, including abnormal development of the maternal vasculature of the placenta. With a better understanding of SK3 channel contribution to vessel formation and growth we can improve our understanding of the key players in placental development to prevent fetal loss.

Figure 5.1: Responses of uterine arteries from NP WT and SK3^{T/T} mice. (WT =green, SK3^{T/T} = orange). (A) Basal diameters of uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice were significantly larger than in WT mice. (B) Uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice constricted more to apamin (200 nM) compared to WT. (C) % Constriction to KCl was similar in uterine arteries from WT and SK3^{T/T} mice. (D) % Constriction to thromboxane A2 mimetic U46619 was greater in uterine arteries from SK3^{T/T} mice compared to WT. (For all experiments: mean \pm SEM; N = 4-12 * p < 0.05 vs. WT, ** p = 0.0004 vs. WT).



Figure 5.2: Litter size of WT and SK3^{T/T} mice during different stages of pregnancy. (WT = green, SK3^{T/T} = orange). (A) Average pups per litter at P7-9, P13-14 and P18-19. (Mean \pm SEM; N=29, 8, 10, 6, 25, 17 respectively; * p < 0.05 vs. WT all gestations, ** p < 0.001 vs. WT at same gestation stage, † p < 0.05 vs. SK3 P7-9). (B) Ultrasound imaging of mid-gestation mice. Red circle and arrows highlight a viable fetus in the womb of a SK3 heterozygous mouse on P14. (C) Red circles and arrows indicate two empty, homogenous fluid filled sacs, which are the result of fetal demise in an SK3^{T/T} mouse, P14.





Figure 5.3: Measurements of heart rate and blood pressure by tailcuff in NP and during gestation in WT and SK3^{T/T} mice. (WT =green, SK3^{T/T} = orange). (A) Heart rates in NP SK3^{T/T} mice were elevated compared to WT mice (WT N=6, SK3^{T/T} N=14) (B) Heart rates were increased in SK3^{T/T} mice on P13 and P15 compared to WT mice (n=3-7). (C) Systolic blood pressure of WT and SK3^{T/T} mice were not different throughout gestation (WT n=3-7; * p< 0.05 vs WT).



Figure 5.4: Placental and fetal weights at P18. (A) Placentas collected from $SK3^{T/T}$ dams weighed significantly more than placentas from WT mice (WT N=8, $SK3^{T/T}$ N=10; * p< 0.05 vs WT). (B) Fetal weights were comparable between the two groups. (WT N=16, $SK3^{T/T}$ N=10).



Figure 5.5: H&E staining of placenta from P18 WT and SK3^{T/T} mice (vertical crosssections unless indicated). (A) Placenta from P18 WT mouse showed normal morphology (dotted line represents width of labyrinth and solid line represents width of decidua; 20x; N=3). (B) Placenta from P18 SK3^{T/T} mouse tended to have smaller decidua compared to WT (solid line; 20x; N=3). (C) Horizontal section of decidua from placenta of P18 WT (arrows indicate maternal blood vessels entering the placenta, 40x). (D) Horizontal section of decidua from placenta of P18 SK3^{T/T} mouse had an increased number of maternal vessels (40x). (E) Decidual portion of placenta from P18 WT mouse showed normal morphology (100x; N=3). (F) Placental decidua from P18 SK3^{T/T} mouse showed abnormal morphology. Triangle indicates enlarged vessels, arrow shows area of thrombi, pentagon points to necrosis, and star indicates rarefaction (100x; N=3).



Figure 5.6: Measurement of oxidative stress in placenta from WT and SK3^{T/T} mice. An index for oxidative stress, 8-isoprostane, was measured in placental homogenates at P9 (A), P10 (B, both critical time points in placental development) and P18 (C, the day before delivery). Levels of oxidative stress were similar between placentas from WT and SK3^{T/T} mice at P9 and P10. 8-Isoprostane levels were elevated in SK3^{T/T} placentas at P18 compared to WT, but did not reach significance (p = 0.058; N=4 for all groups).



CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS

SK3 channels play a direct role in uterine contraction. However their widespread expression in various tissues suggests that this channel contributes to multiple mechanisms and pathways essential for maintenance of pregnancy and parturition. The mechanisms responsible for the initiation of labor are not fully understood, however many of the pathways implicated in the initiation of term labor may also be activated in preterm labor. The current belief is that four distinct processes, each of which activates multiple signaling pathways, lead to preterm birth: activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, decidual bleeding, uterine overdistension, and intrauterine inflammation/infection. The possible role of the SK3 channel in each of these processes will be discussed (Figure 6.1).

The HPA axis and the timing of labor

In humans, secretion of hormones from the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis has been suggested to initiate labor. The HPA axis secretes hormones (including corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) from the hypothalamus, corticotropin (ACTH) from the pituitary, and cortisol from the adrenals) that stimulate receptors in the fetus, fetal membranes, the uterus, and the placenta but also produces a positive feedback loop on the HPA axis itself (95). During the course of pregnancy, the maternal pituitary increases by about one third in size but continues to function normally despite this growth (94). The maternal pituitary secretes ACTH, which stimulates secretion of cortisol from the adrenal glands of both the mother and the fetus. The release of cortisol from the mother in turn inhibits secretion of CRH from the hypothalamus, cortisol stimulates the placenta to produces CRH. In contrast to the hypothalamus, cortisol stimulates the placenta to produce more CRH (111). In humans, throughout the course of pregnancy, the levels of CRH continue to rise, reaching levels of a thousand-fold more than non-

pregnant states (94, 113). This gradual rise in CRH during gestation is thought to act as the "placental clock" that signals when labor should begin (99).

Early in gestation, CRH relaxes the uterus. The myometrium expresses CRH receptor alpha (CRHR α) and when bound by CRH, adenylyl cyclase is activated and intracellular cAMP increases, which leads to relaxation of the uterus (142). As pregnancy progresses, a shift in CRH receptor subtype expression transitions CRH from causing uterine relaxation to instead causing uterine contraction (46, 142). The exact mechanism for this transition is not fully understood. In addition, CRH and corticotropin can stimulate secretion of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) from the maternal and fetal adrenal glands. DHEAS is converted to estrogen, which promotes uterine contraction (94, 142). Thus, multiple theories are proposed to explain how the CRH surge towards the end of gestation initiates labor in humans. While CRH gradually rises during term pregnancies, studies demonstrated that CRH levels rise quickly in preterm labor (99). Absolute levels of CRH are not an adequate indicator of potential preterm labor, however the rate at which CRH increases in a pregnant individual does correlate with preterm birth (81).

The HPA axis is an important component of pregnancy, contributing to both uterine quiescence and contractility. To date, SK3 channels have not been implicated in this pathway, despite the fact that SK3 channels are expressed in both the hypothalamus and adrenal glands (20). SK3 channels are present in the rostral portion of the hypothalamus, which includes the nuclei that produce both gonadotropin-releasing hormone and oxytocin. Secretion of gonadotropin-releasing hormone is needed for the menstrual cycle but does not contribute to pregnancy. In contrast, oxytocin is a strong uterotonic thought to contribute to labor initiation and progression (153). Overexpression of SK3 channels could influence release of oxytocin from nuclei in the hypothalamus by affecting membrane potential and attenuating uterine contractile activity. While gene depletion of oxytocin and the oxytocin receptor does not delay parturition in mice, we

119

cannot eliminate the possibility that SK3 channels influence uterine contraction via this process. The function of SK3 channels in adrenal glands also needs to be investigated. These channels could influence secretion of hormones that are synthesized in the adrenals and are necessary to maintain uterine quiescence. Dampening of cellular excitability via SK3 channels could affect the hormone secretions of the HPA axis, and alter the timing of labor initiation.

The decidua and rupture of membranes

The decidua is an important contributor to maintenance of uterine quiescence during pregnancy. As described in earlier sections, the uterus is composed of several layers, including the endometrium, which becomes the decidua (87). Under the appropriate conditions, this glandular tissue provides a receptive surface for implantation of the embryo. During the menstrual cycle in humans, estrogen primes the endometrial stromal cells, which then transition into the decidua following a rise in progesterone (132). In other animals, this process of decidualization does not occur until implantation begins. The process of decidualization prepares the uterus for invasion by the trophoblast cells, which are the cells on the perimeter of the embryo (87). As growth continues, angiogenesis of the uterus near the implantation site occurs with the decidua contributing to the maternal portion of the placenta.

Term labor is theorized to initiate following activation of the decidua, causing a release of PGF_{2 α}(92). Preterm labor is typically related to an early rupture of fetal membranes after decidual dysfunction or early decidual activation (43). This dysfunction or early activation tends to be associated with uterine bleeding or infection (43). An increase in the generation of cytokines can occur without uterine infection, and these cytokines directly influence the decidua. Once cytokine levels rise in the decidua, it leads to production of a cascade of labor-inducing factors, including cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin receptors (21). Production of these stimulating factors causes rupture of

membranes, cervical ripening and uterine contraction. Additionally, bleeding in the decidua promotes thrombin production, which upregulates proteases that also lead to rupture (136). Further investigation into ways to prevent decidual dysfunction could decrease the risk of preterm delivery.

SK3 channels are expressed in the endometrium (20), but a role for these channels in the decidua has yet to be elucidated. In porcine endometrial epithelial cells, SK3 channels contribute to calcium-dependent potassium ion secretion (117), a necessary process for fertilization and proper implantation (17). Given the importance of SK3 channels in endometrium, it seems likely that these channels also contribute to the function of the decidua when it is transformed during pregnancy. Also, estrogen is an important regulator of decidual function, and as described in Chapter 3, estrogen can regulate SK3 channel expression through a shift in the Sp1/Sp3 ratios. As estrogen rises during pregnancy this change in the Sp1/Sp3 ratio could influence expression of SK3 channels in the decidua. The decidua is a fundamental component of pregnancy that contributes to the delicate balance of signaling pathways. Thus ion channels like SK3 could mediate secretion of factors important in pregnancy maintenance and labor initiation.

Overdistension and uterine stretch

The uterus is regulated by many factors during pregnancy, including stretch of the myometrial smooth muscle. As the fetus develops and expands, the uterus undergoes stretch without eliciting a subsequent contraction. As pregnancy nears term, the uterus transitions and responds to stretch by eliciting contractions (88). The process in which the uterus converts to a stretch-induced contractile organ is most likely regulated by progesterone (88). The transition from a quiescent to a contractile state occurs when smooth muscle cells attach to the basement membrane via integrins allowing for forceful contractions (84). Uterine stretch also upregulates connexin 43, cyclooxygenase 2, and

oxytocin receptors, which contribute to the syncitial nature of the uterus allowing coordinated contractions essential for delivery (116, 143, 153).

Overdistension of the uterus, or too much stretch, can lead to preterm labor and delivery. The most common case of overdistension occurs in pregnancy with multiple fetuses. The risk of preterm birth in twins is 60% compared to about 12% in all pregnancies, and preterm birth is almost unavoidable in pregnancy with more than two fetuses (43). Also greater stretch is exerted on the uterus in the cases of macrosomia (abnormally high fetal weight) and polyhydramnios (excess amniotic fluid), both of which typically result in preterm labor (161). The involvement of novel mechanisms induced by overdistention makes stretch a valuable tool in the study of preterm labor.

SK3 channels play an integral role in uterine smooth muscle physiology as demonstrated in Chapters 2-4. As pregnancy progresses, stretch exerted on the myometrium activates pathways that lead to contraction toward term. K⁺ channels, in general, activate upon stretch in the stomach, colon, arteries and bladder (72, 119, 151, 170). However, the effect of stretch on SK3 channel expression and activation remains uncharacterized. Previous studies implicated SK3 channels in smooth muscle response to distension upon bladder filling (53), and while shear stress is distinct from stretch, this form of mechanical stimulation activates SK3 channels (148). The higher expression of SK3 channels in early gestation compared to late gestation (120), indicates that activation of SK3 channels following stretch could dampen contractile activity during the quiescent phase of the uterus. Evidence of stretch activation of SK3 channels in myometrium would further emphasize the role of this channel in myometrial relaxation and could be a target for preventing preterm labor.

Intrauterine infection and the inflammatory pathway

Infection contributes to about 25-40% of preterm births, but intrauterine infection can be difficult to detect (43). Low virulence pathogens, not uncommon in the flora of

122

the reproductive tract, can cause preterm labor and this low virulence may account for why pregnant women frequently lack symptoms of intrauterine infection (44). Intrauterine infection is associated with 80% of early (21-24 weeks) preterm labor (128) and is a serious risk factor for preterm delivery.

Inflammation pathways also contribute to labor at term, with recruitment and activation of cytokines that lead to upregulation of contraction-inducing agents (21). In the case of preterm labor, upon infection, the immune system activates prematurely, most likely by activation of toll-receptors (43, 44, 128). Toll receptors, in turn, recruit cytokines to the uterine cavity. These signaling molecules initiate secretion of prostaglandins that stimulate uterine contractions and proteases that cause rupture of fetal membranes, as described in the previous section. Once these pathways are initiated prematurely, available tocolytics help little to prevent labor.

There is little information linking the SK3 channel to infection, or infectioninduced preterm labor. Sultan et al established a possible link when they determined that SK3 channels are necessary for the increase in intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) following increases in shear stress in the saphenous vein (148). The endothelium of veins responds to increases in flow with rapid upregulation of ICAM-1 (2) which can stimulate leukocyte adhesion and infiltration (149). The activation of SK3 channels could lead to increased transcript expression of ICAM-1 via changes in membrane potential. While SK3 and SK2 channels are both present in endothelium of the saphenous veins, SK3 channel expression is higher (148). Endothelial SK channels are activated by increases in intracellular calcium following increased shear stress of the vein. Activation of the SK channels could induce dilatation of veins to reduce shear stress (148). Consequently, with an upregulation of ICAM-1 due to SK3 channel activation, promotion of leukocyte adhesion and infiltration could occur. In the case of preterm labor, upon infection, leukocytes migrate to the decidua, increasing cytokine production that leads to initiation of pathways that promote rupture of membranes and

123

contraction (21). As described in the previous section, mechanical forces, such as stretch and shear stress, could activate SK3 channels. Once these channels are activated following an increase in intracellular calcium, they could promote infiltration of leukocytes via ICAM-1, promoting the inflammatory pathway leading to preterm labor.

Implantation and the decidua

Implantation occurs following formation of the blastocyst, which embeds into the stromal cells of the decidua via trophoblast cells (87). In order for implantation to be successful and for the fetus to develop, the blastocyst must properly attach to the uterine wall. This process relies on several factors including hormone secretion from the maternal HPA axis, adequate decidual activation to prevent over invasion of the blastocyst into the uterine wall (70), and initiation of inflammatory pathways to recruit cytokines and leukocytes for remodeling the endometrium. Once implantation starts, the placenta also begins to form. Implantation defects can result in miscarriage, preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction (87). They may also promote preterm labor because of the long term effects that placental establishment and dysfunction have on the likelihood of membrane rupture (70).

During the course of experiments, it was noticed that the distribution of the embryos in SK3^{T/T} uteri early in gestation appeared abnormal (unpublished observation) (Figure 6.2). In WT mice, embryos typically spread out evenly along the uterine horns, forming a "string of pearls" (29). In contrast, embryos in SK3^{T/T} dams tended to implant closer together. The mechanism for this was unclear, however SK3 channels could be involved in the release of chemoattractants from the decidua that guide blastocysts to a more evenly distributed orientation. With an overexpression of SK3 channels in the decidua, dampened cell excitability could reduce the secretion of factors that attract an embryo to a particular site in the uterus. The uneven distribution could lead to overcrowding and contribute to the fetal demise found in the SK3^{T/T} dams.
The role of the SK3 channel in the maternal vasculature during placental development (as described in Chapter 5) could be further complicated by the effects of overexpression of the SK3 channel on the developing embryo. While vascularization occurs following implantation, abnormal blastocyst attachment and subsequent trophoblast invasion could hinder proper formation of vessels from the maternal decidua to the placenta. Alterations in the pathways that lead to proper formation of the maternal-fetal interface can greatly influence maternal and fetal health. Continued delineation of the SK3 channel's contribution to the physiology of multiple aspects of pregnancy will support an improved understanding to prevent pathologies.

Impact

To date, the SK3 channel is the only ion channel for which overexpression in transgenic mouse models was reported to delay or impede parturition. Before this project, little information existed on the mechanisms of SK3 channels regulation in normal pregnancy, or how SK3 channels contribute to myometrial function. We determined that SK3 channels were downregulated in the uterus mid-gestation in both humans and mice, to allow for enhanced contractile response. We further demonstrated that estrogen stimulated Sp1 activation of the SK3 gene, possibly by altering the physiological balance between Sp1 and Sp3 expression that determined SK3 channel expression in the uterus during pregnancy. Furthermore, we demonstrated that overexpression of SK3 channels prevented the progression of preterm labor in mice and successfully developed methods to measure intrauterine pressures in mice using radiotelemetry. Using this approach we characterized the role SK3 channels play in the labor process in SK3^{T/T} mice. Thus, we have provided evidence that SK3 channels play a critical role in uterine excitability by dampening contractions. Additionally we discovered a novel phenotype in the $SK3^{T/T}$ mice, fetal demise, which had not been associated with SK3 channels in humans or mice. We demonstrated the contribution of

SK3 channels to vessel formation and growth. With the results from studies described in this thesis, we found novel information on the relationship of SK3 channels in the regulation of pregnancy.

Figure 6.1: Schematic of the four intersecting pathways to preterm delivery. Lockwood CJ Unpublished 2002.



Figure 6.2: Overcrowding of fetuses in SK3^{T/T} uterus. Arrows point to the fetal sacs. (A) The fetal sacs in the P9 WT uterus are distinctly separated from each other, (B) while the fetal sacs from the P9 SK3^{T/T} uterus do not appear as distinct from one another, especially in the right horn.



WT P9



SK3^{T/T} P9

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Adamson SL, Lu Y, Whiteley KJ, Holmyard D, Hemberger M, Pfarrer C, and Cross JC. Interactions between trophoblast cells and the maternal and fetal circulation in the mouse placenta. *Developmental biology* 250: 358-373, 2002.

2. Alevriadou BR, Eskin SG, McIntire LV, and Schilling WP. Effect of shear stress on 86Rb+ efflux from calf pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *Ann Biomed Eng* 21: 1-7, 1993.

3. Armstrong WE, Rubrum A, Teruyama R, Bond CT, and Adelman JP. Immunocytochemical localization of small-conductance, calcium-dependent potassium channels in astrocytes of the rat supraoptic nucleus. *The Journal of comparative neurology* 491: 175-185, 2005.

4. **Benkusky NA, Fergus DJ, Zucchero TM, and England SK**. Regulation of the Ca2+-sensitive domains of the maxi-K channel in the mouse myometrium during gestation. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 275: 27712-27719, 2000.

5. Berezowsky J, Zbieranowski I, Demers J, and Murray D. DNA ploidy of hydatidiform moles and nonmolar conceptuses: a study using flow and tissue section image cytometry. *Mod Pathol* 8: 775-781, 1995.

6. **Blanks AM, and Thornton S**. The role of oxytocin in parturition. *Bjog* 110 Suppl 20: 46-51, 2003.

7. **Bond CT, Maylie J, and Adelman JP**. Small-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 868: 370-378, 1999.

8. Bond CT, Sprengel R, Bissonnette JM, Kaufmann WA, Pribnow D, Neelands T, Storck T, Baetscher M, Jerecic J, Maylie J, Knaus HG, Seeburg PH, and Adelman JP. Respiration and parturition affected by conditional overexpression of the Ca2+-activated K+ channel subunit, SK3. *Science (New York, NY* 289: 1942-1946, 2000.

9. **Bosch MA, Kelly MJ, and Ronnekleiv OK**. Distribution, neuronal colocalization, and 17beta-E2 modulation of small conductance calcium-activated K(+) channel (SK3) mRNA in the guinea pig brain. *Endocrinology* 143: 1097-1107, 2002.

10. **Brainard AM, Korovkina VP, and England SK**. Potassium channels and uterine function. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 18: 332-339, 2007.

11. **Brainard AM, Miller AJ, Martens JR, and England SK**. Maxi-K channels localize to caveolae in human myometrium: a role for an actin-channel-caveolin complex in the regulation of myometrial smooth muscle K+ current. *American journal of physiology* 289: C49-57, 2005.

12. **Braun H, Koop R, Ertmer A, Nacht S, and Suske G**. Transcription factor Sp3 is regulated by acetylation. *Nucleic Acids Res* 29: 4994-5000, 2001.

13. **Brown A, Cornwell T, Korniyenko I, Solodushko V, Bond CT, Adelman JP, and Taylor MS**. Myometrial expression of small conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels depresses phasic uterine contraction. *American journal of physiology* 292: C832-840, 2007.

14. **Burnham MP, Bychkov R, Feletou M, Richards GR, Vanhoutte PM, Weston AH, and Edwards G**. Characterization of an apamin-sensitive small-conductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channel in porcine coronary artery endothelium: relevance to EDHF. *British journal of pharmacology* 135: 1133-1143, 2002.

15. **Callaghan WM, MacDorman MF, Rasmussen SA, Qin C, and Lackritz EM**. The contribution of preterm birth to infant mortality rates in the United States. *Pediatrics* 118: 1566-1573, 2006.

16. **Carlstrom L, Ke ZJ, Unnerstall JR, Cohen RS, and Pandey SC**. Estrogen modulation of the cyclic AMP response element-binding protein pathway. Effects of long-term and acute treatments. *Neuroendocrinology* 74: 227-243, 2001.

17. **Casslen B, and Nilsson B**. Human uterine fluid, examined in undiluted samples for osmolarity and the concentrations of inorganic ions, albumin, glucose, and urea. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 150: 877-881, 1984.

18. **Castellucci M, Kosanke G, Verdenelli F, Huppertz B, and Kaufmann P**. Villous sprouting: fundamental mechanisms of human placental development. *Hum Reprod Update* 6: 485-494, 2000.

19. **Chanrachakul B, Pipkin FB, and Khan RN**. Contribution of coupling between human myometrial beta2-adrenoreceptor and the BK(Ca) channel to uterine quiescence. *American journal of physiology* 287: C1747-1752, 2004.

20. Chen MX, Gorman SA, Benson B, Singh K, Hieble JP, Michel MC, Tate SN, and Trezise DJ. Small and intermediate conductance Ca(2+)-activated K+ channels confer distinctive patterns of distribution in human tissues and differential cellular localisation in the colon and corpus cavernosum. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 369: 602-615, 2004.

21. Christiaens I, Zaragoza DB, Guilbert L, Robertson SA, Mitchell BF, and Olson DM. Inflammatory processes in preterm and term parturition. *J Reprod Immunol* 79: 50-57, 2008.

22. **Cipolla MJ, Smith J, Kohlmeyer MM, and Godfrey JA**. SKCa and IKCa Channels, myogenic tone, and vasodilator responses in middle cerebral arteries and parenchymal arterioles: effect of ischemia and reperfusion. *Stroke* 40: 1451-1457, 2009.

23. Condon J, Yin S, Mayhew B, Word RA, Wright WE, Shay JW, and Rainey WE. Telomerase immortalization of human myometrial cells. *Biol Reprod* 67: 506-514, 2002.

24. **Condon JC, Jeyasuria P, Faust JM, Wilson JW, and Mendelson CR**. A decline in the levels of progesterone receptor coactivators in the pregnant uterus at term may antagonize progesterone receptor function and contribute to the initiation of parturition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 9518-9523, 2003.

25. **Crankshaw DJ**. Pharmacological techniques for the in vitro study of the uterus. *Journal of pharmacological and toxicological methods* 45: 123-140, 2001.

26. Cross JC, Hemberger M, Lu Y, Nozaki T, Whiteley K, Masutani M, and Adamson SL. Trophoblast functions, angiogenesis and remodeling of the maternal vasculature in the placenta. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* 187: 207-212, 2002.

27. Curley M, Cairns MT, Friel AM, McMeel OM, Morrison JJ, and Smith TJ. Expression of mRNA transcripts for ATP-sensitive potassium channels in human myometrium. *Mol Hum Reprod* 8: 941-945, 2002.

28. Davisson RL, Hoffmann DS, Butz GM, Aldape G, Schlager G, Merrill DC, Sethi S, Weiss RM, and Bates JN. Discovery of a spontaneous genetic mouse model of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 39: 337-342, 2002.

29. **Deb K, Reese J, and Paria BC**. Methodologies to study implantation in mice. *Methods Mol Med* 121: 9-34, 2006.

30. **DeFranco E, Teramo K, and Muglia L**. Genetic influences on preterm birth. *Semin Reprod Med* 25: 40-51, 2007.

31. **Dennig J, Beato M, and Suske G**. An inhibitor domain in Sp3 regulates its glutamine-rich activation domains. *Embo J* 15: 5659-5667, 1996.

32. **Doring B, Shynlova O, Tsui P, Eckardt D, Janssen-Bienhold U, Hofmann F, Feil S, Feil R, Lye SJ, and Willecke K**. Ablation of connexin43 in uterine smooth muscle cells of the mouse causes delayed parturition. *J Cell Sci* 119: 1715-1722, 2006.

33. **Dudley DJ, Branch DW, Edwin SS, and Mitchell MD**. Induction of preterm birth in mice by RU486. *Biology of reproduction* 55: 992-995, 1996.

34. **Dudley DJ, Chen CL, Branch DW, Hammond E, and Mitchell MD**. A murine model of preterm labor: inflammatory mediators regulate the production of prostaglandin E2 and interleukin-6 by murine decidua. *Biology of reproduction* 48: 33-39, 1993.

35. Ellinor PT, Lunetta KL, Glazer NL, Pfeufer A, Alonso A, Chung MK, Sinner MF, de Bakker PI, Mueller M, Lubitz SA, Fox E, Darbar D, Smith NL, Smith JD, Schnabel RB, Soliman EZ, Rice KM, Van Wagoner DR, Beckmann BM, van Noord C, Wang K, Ehret GB, Rotter JI, Hazen SL, Steinbeck G, Smith AV, Launer LJ, Harris TB, Makino S, Nelis M, Milan DJ, Perz S, Esko T, Kottgen A, Moebus S, Newton-Cheh C, Li M, Mohlenkamp S, Wang TJ, Kao WH, Vasan RS, Nothen MM, MacRae CA, Stricker BH, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Levy D, Boerwinkle E, Metspalu A, Topol EJ, Chakravarti A, Gudnason V, Psaty BM, Roden DM, Meitinger T, Wichmann HE, Witteman JC, Barnard J, Arking DE, Benjamin EJ, Heckbert SR, and Kaab S. Common variants in KCNN3 are associated with lone atrial fibrillation. *Nat Genet* 42: 240-244, 2010.

36. **Europe-Finner GN, Phaneuf S, Mardon HJ, and Lopez Bernal A**. Human myometrial G alpha s-small (with serine) and Gs-large (with serine) messenger ribonucleic acid splice variants promote the increased expression of 46- and 54-kilodalton G alpha s protein isoforms in pregnancy and their down-regulation during labor. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 81: 1069-1075, 1996.

37. Europe-Finner GN, Phaneuf S, Tolkovsky AM, Watson SP, and Lopez Bernal A. Down-regulation of G alpha s in human myometrium in term and preterm labor: a mechanism for parturition. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 79: 1835-1839, 1994.

38. **Europe-Finner GN, Phaneuf S, Watson SP, and Lopez Bernal A**. Identification and expression of G-proteins in human myometrium: up-regulation of G alpha s in pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 132: 2484-2490, 1993.

39. **Fidel PI, Jr., Romero R, Maymon E, and Hertelendy F**. Bacteria-induced or bacterial product-induced preterm parturition in mice and rabbits is preceded by a significant fall in serum progesterone concentrations. *The Journal of maternal-fetal medicine* 7: 222-226, 1998.

40. **Fountain SJ, Cheong A, Li J, Dondas NY, Zeng F, Wood IC, and Beech DJ**. K(v)1.5 potassium channel gene regulation by Sp1 transcription factor and oxidative stress. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293: H2719-2725, 2007.

41. Garcia-Lopez MJ, Martinez-Martos JM, Mayas MD, Carrera MP, and Ramirez-Exposito MJ. Influence of hormonal status on enkephalin-degrading aminopeptidase activity in the HPA axis of female mice. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* 141: 135-140, 2005.

42. **Gillham JC, Myers JE, Baker PN, and Taggart MJ**. Regulation of endothelialdependent relaxation in human systemic arteries by SKCa and IKCa channels. *Reproductive sciences (Thousand Oaks, Calif* 14: 43-50, 2007.

43. **Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, and Romero R**. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. *Lancet* 371: 75-84, 2008.

44. **Goldenberg RL, Hauth JC, and Andrews WW**. Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery. *N Engl J Med* 342: 1500-1507, 2000.

45. **Gonzalez JM, Xu H, Chai J, Ofori E, and Elovitz MA**. Preterm and term cervical ripening in CD1 Mice (Mus musculus): similar or divergent molecular mechanisms? *Biology of reproduction* 81: 1226-1232, 2009.

46. **Grammatopoulos DK, and Hillhouse EW**. Role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in onset of labour. *Lancet* 354: 1546-1549, 1999.

47. **Grgic I, Eichler I, Heinau P, Si H, Brakemeier S, Hoyer J, and Kohler R**. Selective blockade of the intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel suppresses proliferation of microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells and angiogenesis in vivo. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25: 704-709, 2005.

48. Gross GA, Imamura T, Luedke C, Vogt SK, Olson LM, Nelson DM, Sadovsky Y, and Muglia LJ. Opposing actions of prostaglandins and oxytocin determine the onset of murine labor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95: 11875-11879, 1998.

49. **Gude NM, Roberts CT, Kalionis B, and King RG**. Growth and function of the normal human placenta. *Thrombosis research* 114: 397-407, 2004.

50. **Habuchi H, Nagai N, Sugaya N, Atsumi F, Stevens RL, and Kimata K**. Mice deficient in heparan sulfate 6-O-sulfotransferase-1 exhibit defective heparan sulfate biosynthesis, abnormal placentation, and late embryonic lethality. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 282: 15578-15588, 2007.

51. **Hagiwara N, Irisawa H, and Kameyama M**. Contribution of two types of calcium currents to the pacemaker potentials of rabbit sino-atrial node cells. *The Journal of physiology* 395: 233-253, 1988.

52. Haram K, Mortensen JH, and Wollen AL. Preterm delivery: an overview. *Acta* obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica 82: 687-704, 2003.

53. Herrera GM, Pozo MJ, Zvara P, Petkov GV, Bond CT, Adelman JP, and Nelson MT. Urinary bladder instability induced by selective suppression of the murine small conductance calcium-activated potassium (SK3) channel. *The Journal of physiology* 551: 893-903, 2003.

54. Hertelendy F, and Zakar T. Prostaglandins and the myometrium and cervix. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and essential fatty acids* 70: 207-222, 2004.

55. **Heryanto B, and Rogers PA**. Regulation of endometrial endothelial cell proliferation by oestrogen and progesterone in the ovariectomized mouse. *Reproduction (Cambridge, England)* 123: 107-113, 2002.

56. Hoffmann DS, Weydert CJ, Lazartigues E, Kutschke WJ, Kienzle MF, Leach JE, Sharma JA, Sharma RV, and Davisson RL. Chronic tempol prevents hypertension, proteinuria, and poor feto-placental outcomes in BPH/5 mouse model of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 51: 1058-1065, 2008.

57. **Hong KH, Seki T, and Oh SP**. Activin receptor-like kinase 1 is essential for placental vascular development in mice. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* 87: 670-679, 2007.

58. **Honnebier MB, and Nathanielsz PW**. Primate parturition and the role of the maternal circadian system. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 55: 193-203, 1994.

59. **Ishii TM, Maylie J, and Adelman JP**. Determinants of apamin and d-tubocurarine block in SK potassium channels. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 272: 23195-23200, 1997.

60. Jacobson D, Pribnow D, Herson PS, Maylie J, and Adelman JP. Determinants contributing to estrogen-regulated expression of SK3. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 303: 660-668, 2003.

61. **Jauniaux E, and Burton GJ**. Pathophysiology of histological changes in early pregnancy loss. *Placenta* 26: 114-123, 2005.

62. Jauniaux E, Greenwold N, Hempstock J, and Burton GJ. Comparison of ultrasonographic and Doppler mapping of the intervillous circulation in normal and abnormal early pregnancies. *Fertil Steril* 79: 100-106, 2003.

63. **Jauniaux E, Watson AL, Hempstock J, Bao YP, Skepper JN, and Burton GJ**. Onset of maternal arterial blood flow and placental oxidative stress. A possible factor in human early pregnancy failure. *The American journal of pathology* 157: 2111-2122, 2000.

64. **Jia Y, and Takimoto K**. GATA and FOG2 transcription factors differentially regulate the promoter for Kv4.2 K(+) channel gene in cardiac myocytes and PC12 cells. *Cardiovasc Res* 60: 278-287, 2003.

65. **Kanellopoulos-Langevin C, Caucheteux SM, Verbeke P, and Ojcius DM**. Tolerance of the fetus by the maternal immune system: role of inflammatory mediators at the feto-maternal interface. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 1: 121, 2003.

66. **Karthikeyan VJ, and Lip GY**. Hypertension in pregnancy: pathophysiology and management strategies. *Current pharmaceutical design* 13: 2567-2579, 2007.

67. Kenny LC, Baker PN, Kendall DA, Randall MD, and Dunn WR. Differential mechanisms of endothelium-dependent vasodilator responses in human myometrial small arteries in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Clin Sci (Lond)* 103: 67-73, 2002.

68. **Khan RN, Smith SK, Morrison JJ, and Ashford ML**. Properties of largeconductance K+ channels in human myometrium during pregnancy and labour. *Proc Biol Sci* 251: 9-15, 1993.

69. Kimura T, Ogita K, Kusui C, Ohashi K, Azuma C, and Murata Y. What knockout mice can tell us about parturition. *Reviews of reproduction* 4: 73-80, 1999.

70. **King A**. Uterine leukocytes and decidualization. *Hum Reprod Update* 6: 28-36, 2000.

71. Knock GA, Smirnov SV, and Aaronson PI. Voltage-gated K+ currents in freshly isolated myocytes of the pregnant human myometrium. *The Journal of physiology* 518 (Pt 3): 769-781, 1999.

72. Koh SD, and Sanders KM. Stretch-dependent potassium channels in murine colonic smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of physiology* 533: 155-163, 2001.

73. Kohler M, Hirschberg B, Bond CT, Kinzie JM, Marrion NV, Maylie J, and Adelman JP. Small-conductance, calcium-activated potassium channels from mammalian brain. *Science (New York, NY* 273: 1709-1714, 1996.

74. Kolski-Andreaco A, Tomita H, Shakkottai VG, Gutman GA, Cahalan MD, Gargus JJ, and Chandy KG. SK3-1C, a dominant-negative suppressor of SKCa and IKCa channels. *J Biol Chem* 279: 6893-6904, 2004.

75. **Korovkina VP, Brainard AM, and England SK**. Translocation of an endoproteolytically cleaved maxi-K channel isoform: mechanisms to induce human myometrial cell repolarization. *J Physiol* 573: 329-341, 2006.

76. **Kundu P, Alioua A, Stefani E, and Toro L**. Regulation of mouse Slo gene expression: multiple promoters, transcription start sites, and genomic action of estrogen. *J Biol Chem* 282: 27478-27492, 2007.

77. **Lamping KG, Wess J, Cui Y, Nuno DW, and Faraci FM**. Muscarinic (M) receptors in coronary circulation: gene-targeted mice define the role of M2 and M3 receptors in response to acetylcholine. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 24: 1253-1258, 2004.

78. Langager AM, Hammerberg BE, Rotella DL, and Stauss HM. Very lowfrequency blood pressure variability depends on voltage-gated L-type Ca2+ channels in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 292: H1321-1327, 2007.

79. Langenbach R, Morham SG, Tiano HF, Loftin CD, Ghanayem BI, Chulada PC, Mahler JF, Lee CA, Goulding EH, Kluckman KD, Kim HS, and Smithies O. Prostaglandin synthase 1 gene disruption in mice reduces arachidonic acid-induced inflammation and indomethacin-induced gastric ulceration. *Cell* 83: 483-492, 1995.

80. Ledoux J, Werner ME, Brayden JE, and Nelson MT. Calcium-activated potassium channels and the regulation of vascular tone. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 21: 69-78, 2006.

81. Leung TN, Chung TK, Madsen G, Lam PK, Sahota D, and Smith R. Rate of rise in maternal plasma corticotrophin-releasing hormone and its relation to gestational length. *BJOG* 108: 527-532, 2001.

82. Li M, Yee D, Magnuson TR, Smithies O, and Caron KM. Reduced maternal expression of adrenomedullin disrupts fertility, placentation, and fetal growth in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 116: 2653-2662, 2006.

83. Li N, Timofeyev V, Tuteja D, Xu D, Lu L, Zhang Q, Zhang Z, Singapuri A, Albert TR, Rajagopal AV, Bond CT, Periasamy M, Adelman J, and Chiamvimonvat N. Ablation of a Ca2+-activated K+ channel (SK2 channel) results in action potential prolongation in atrial myocytes and atrial fibrillation. *The Journal of physiology* 587: 1087-1100, 2009.

84. Li Y, Reznichenko M, Tribe RM, Hess PE, Taggart M, Kim H, DeGnore JP, Gangopadhyay S, and Morgan KG. Stretch activates human myometrium via ERK, caldesmon and focal adhesion signaling. *PLoS One* 4: e7489, 2009.

85. Liu B, Arulkumaran S, Hill SJ, and Khan RN. Comparison of potassium currents in human decidua before and after the onset of labor. *Biology of reproduction* 68: 2281-2288, 2003.

86. Lundgren DW, Moore JJ, Chang SM, Collins PL, and Chang AS. Gestational changes in the uterine expression of an inwardly rectifying K+ channel, ROMK. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY* 216: 57-64, 1997.

87. Lunghi L, Ferretti ME, Medici S, Biondi C, and Vesce F. Control of human trophoblast function. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 5: 6, 2007.

88. Lye SJ, Mitchell J, Nashman N, Oldenhof A, Ou R, Shynlova O, and Langille L. Role of mechanical signals in the onset of term and preterm labor. *Front Horm Res* 27: 165-178, 2001.

89. Mackay LB, Shi SQ, Garfield RE, and Maner WL. The effect of bilateral pelvic neurectomy on uterine and abdominal electrical and pressure activity, as measured by telemetry in conscious, unrestrained pregnant rats. *J Perinat Med* 37: 313-319, 2009.

90. **Mahendroo MS, Cala KM, and Russell DW**. 5 alpha-reduced androgens play a key role in murine parturition. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md* 10: 380-392, 1996.

91. **Mahendroo MS, Porter A, Russell DW, and Word RA**. The parturition defect in steroid 5alpha-reductase type 1 knockout mice is due to impaired cervical ripening. *Mol Endocrinol* 13: 981-992, 1999.

92. **Makino S, Zaragoza DB, Mitchell BF, Yonemoto H, and Olson DM**. Decidual activation: abundance and localization of prostaglandin F2alpha receptor (FP) mRNA and protein and uterine activation proteins in human decidua at preterm birth and term birth. *Placenta* 28: 557-565, 2007.

93. Martin JA, Hamilton BE, Sutton PD, Ventura SJ, Menacker F, and Kirmeyer S. Births: final data for 2004. *Natl Vital Stat Rep* 55: 1-101, 2006.

94. **Mastorakos G, and Ilias I**. Maternal and fetal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axes during pregnancy and postpartum. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 997: 136-149, 2003.

95. **Mastorakos G, Magiakou MA, and Chrousos GP**. Effects of the immune/inflammatory reaction on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 771: 438-448, 1995.

96. Matthew A, Shmygol A, and Wray S. Ca2+ entry, efflux and release in smooth muscle. *Biol Res* 37: 617-624, 2004.

97. **Mazzone JN, Kaiser RA, and Buxton IL**. Calcium-activated potassium channel expression in human myometrium: effect of pregnancy. *Proceedings of the Western Pharmacology Society* 45: 184-186, 2002.

98. **McCallum LA, Pierce SL, England SK, Greenwood IA, and Tribe RM**. The contribution of Kv7 channels to pregnant mouse and human myometrial contractility. *J Cell Mol Med* 2010.

99. McLean M, Bisits A, Davies J, Woods R, Lowry P, and Smith R. A placental clock controlling the length of human pregnancy. *Nat Med* 1: 460-463, 1995.

100. **Mesiano S, Chan EC, Fitter JT, Kwek K, Yeo G, and Smith R**. Progesterone withdrawal and estrogen activation in human parturition are coordinated by progesterone receptor A expression in the myometrium. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 87: 2924-2930, 2002.

101. **Michaelis UR, and Fleming I**. From endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) to angiogenesis: Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs) and cell signaling. *Pharmacol Ther* 111: 584-595, 2006.

102. **Miguel-Velado E, Moreno-Dominguez A, Colinas O, Cidad P, Heras M, Perez-Garcia MT, and Lopez-Lopez JR**. Contribution of Kv channels to phenotypic remodeling of human uterine artery smooth muscle cells. *Circulation research* 97: 1280-1287, 2005. 103. **Miller BH, Olson SL, Turek FW, Levine JE, Horton TH, and Takahashi JS**. Circadian clock mutation disrupts estrous cyclicity and maintenance of pregnancy. *Curr Biol* 14: 1367-1373, 2004.

104. Mills PA, Huetteman DA, Brockway BP, Zwiers LM, Gelsema AJ, Schwartz RS, and Kramer K. A new method for measurement of blood pressure, heart rate, and activity in the mouse by radiotelemetry. *J Appl Physiol* 88: 1537-1544, 2000.

105. **Mitchell BF, and Taggart MJ**. Are animal models relevant to key aspects of human parturition? *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 297: R525-545, 2009.

106. **Modzelewska B, Kostrzewska A, Sipowicz M, Kleszczewski T, and Batra S**. Apamin inhibits NO-induced relaxation of the spontaneous contractile activity of the myometrium from non-pregnant women. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 1: 8, 2003.

107. Moll W, Kunzel W, and Herberger J. Hemodynamic implications of hemochorial placentation. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 5: 67-74, 1975.

108. **Moore F, and Bernal AL**. Myosin light chain kinase and the onset of labour in humans. *Exp Physiol* 86: 313-318, 2001.

109. **Muraki K, Imaizumi Y, Ohya S, Sato K, Takii T, Onozaki K, and Watanabe M**. Apamin-sensitive Ca2+-dependent K+ current and hyperpolarization in human endothelial cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 236: 340-343, 1997.

110. Newton N, Foshee D, and Newton M. Experimental inhibition of labor through environmental disturbance. *Obstet Gynecol* 27: 371-377, 1966.

111. Ni X, Nicholson RC, King BR, Chan EC, Read MA, and Smith R. Estrogen represses whereas the estrogen-antagonist ICI 182780 stimulates placental CRH gene expression. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 87: 3774-3778, 2002.

112. Nishimori K, Young LJ, Guo Q, Wang Z, Insel TR, and Matzuk MM. Oxytocin is required for nursing but is not essential for parturition or reproductive behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93: 11699-11704, 1996.

113. Nolten WE, Lindheimer MD, Rueckert PA, Oparil S, and Ehrlich EN. Diurnal patterns and regulation of cortisol secretion in pregnancy. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 51: 466-472, 1980.

114. **Osa T, and Kawarabayashi T**. Effect of ions and drugs on the plateau potential in the circular muscle of pregnant rat myometrium. *Jpn J Physiol* 27: 111-121, 1977.

115. **Osol G, and Mandala M**. Maternal uterine vascular remodeling during pregnancy. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 24: 58-71, 2009.

116. **Ou CW, Orsino A, and Lye SJ**. Expression of connexin-43 and connexin-26 in the rat myometrium during pregnancy and labor is differentially regulated by mechanical and hormonal signals. *Endocrinology* 138: 5398-5407, 1997.

117. **Palmer ML, Schiller KR, and O'Grady SM**. Apical SK potassium channels and Ca2+-dependent anion secretion in endometrial epithelial cells. *The Journal of physiology* 586: 717-726, 2008.

118. **Phillips RJ, Tyson-Capper Nee Pollard AJ, Bailey J, Robson SC, and Europe-Finner GN**. Regulation of expression of the chorionic gonadotropin/luteinizing hormone receptor gene in the human myometrium: involvement of specificity protein-1 (Sp1), Sp3, Sp4, Sp-like proteins, and histone deacetylases. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 90: 3479-3490, 2005.

119. **Piao L, Ho WK, and Earm YE**. Actin filaments regulate the stretch sensitivity of large-conductance, Ca2+-activated K+ channels in coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Pflugers Arch* 446: 523-528, 2003.

120. **Pierce SL, Kresowik JD, Lamping KG, and England SK**. Overexpression of SK3 channels dampens uterine contractility to prevent preterm labor in mice. *Biology of reproduction* 78: 1058-1063, 2008.

121. **Plunkett J, and Muglia LJ**. Genetic contributions to preterm birth: implications from epidemiological and genetic association studies. *Ann Med* 40: 167-195, 2008.

122. Potier M, Joulin V, Roger S, Besson P, Jourdan ML, Leguennec JY, Bougnoux P, and Vandier C. Identification of SK3 channel as a new mediator of breast cancer cell migration. *Mol Cancer Ther* 5: 2946-2953, 2006.

123. **Ratajczak CK, and Muglia LJ**. Insights into parturition biology from genetically altered mice. *Pediatric research* 64: 581-589, 2008.

124. **Ratz PH, Berg KM, Urban NH, and Miner AS**. Regulation of smooth muscle calcium sensitivity: KCl as a calcium-sensitizing stimulus. *American journal of physiology* 288: C769-783, 2005.

125. **Redline RW, and Lu CY**. Localization of fetal major histocompatibility complex antigens and maternal leukocytes in murine placenta. Implications for maternal-fetal immunological relationship. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* 61: 27-36, 1989.

126. **Rimini R, Rimland JM, and Terstappen GC**. Quantitative expression analysis of the small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels, SK1, SK2 and SK3, in human brain. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 85: 218-220, 2000.

127. Risau W. Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386: 671-674, 1997.

128. Romero R, Espinoza J, Kusanovic JP, Gotsch F, Hassan S, Erez O, Chaiworapongsa T, and Mazor M. The preterm parturition syndrome. *BJOG* 113 Suppl 3: 17-42, 2006.

129. **Romero R, Tarca AL, and Tromp G**. Insights into the physiology of childbirth using transcriptomics. *PLoS Med* 3: e276, 2006.

130. **Rossant J, and Cross JC**. Placental development: lessons from mouse mutants. *Nat Rev Genet* 2: 538-548, 2001.

131. Sah P. Ca(2+)-activated K+ currents in neurones: types, physiological roles and modulation. *Trends Neurosci* 19: 150-154, 1996.

132. Salamonsen LA, Dimitriadis E, Jones RL, and Nie G. Complex regulation of decidualization: a role for cytokines and proteases--a review. *Placenta* 24 Suppl A: S76-85, 2003.

133. **Sanborn BM**. Ion channels and the control of myometrial electrical activity. *Semin Perinatol* 19: 31-40, 1995.

134. **Sanborn BM**. Relationship of ion channel activity to control of myometrial calcium. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 7: 4-11, 2000.

135. **Sapetschnig A, Koch F, Rischitor G, Mennenga T, and Suske G**. Complexity of translationally controlled transcription factor Sp3 isoform expression. *J Biol Chem* 279: 42095-42105, 2004.

136. **Sarno JL, Schatz F, Lockwood CJ, Huang ST, and Taylor HS**. Thrombin and interleukin-1beta regulate HOXA10 expression in human term decidual cells: implications for preterm labor. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 91: 2366-2372, 2006.

137. Severino MF, Murray MJ, Brandon DD, Clinton GM, Burry KA, and Novy MJ. Rapid loss of oestrogen and progesterone receptors in human leiomyoma and myometrial explant cultures. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2: 823-828, 1996.

138. Shi SQ, Maner WL, Mackay LB, and Garfield RE. Identification of term and preterm labor in rats using artificial neural networks on uterine electromyography signals. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 198: 235 e231-234, 2008.

139. Shmygol A, Blanks AM, Bru-Mercier G, Gullam JE, and Thornton S. Control of uterine Ca2+ by membrane voltage: toward understanding the excitation-contraction coupling in human myometrium. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1101: 97-109, 2007.

140. Shynlova O, Tsui P, Jaffer S, and Lye SJ. Integration of endocrine and mechanical signals in the regulation of myometrial functions during pregnancy and labour. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 144 Suppl 1: S2-10, 2009.

141. Simhan HN, and Caritis SN. Prevention of preterm delivery. *N Engl J Med* 357: 477-487, 2007.

142. Smith R. Parturition. N Engl J Med 356: 271-283, 2007.

143. **Sooranna SR, Lee Y, Kim LU, Mohan AR, Bennett PR, and Johnson MR**. Mechanical stretch activates type 2 cyclooxygenase via activator protein-1 transcription factor in human myometrial cells. *Mol Hum Reprod* 10: 109-113, 2004.

144. **Sperelakis N, Inoue Y, and Ohya Y**. Fast Na+ channels and slow Ca2+ current in smooth muscle from pregnant rat uterus. *Mol Cell Biochem* 114: 79-89, 1992.

145. **Stallmach T, and Hebisch G**. Placental pathology: its impact on explaining prenatal and perinatal death. *Virchows Arch* 445: 9-16, 2004.

146. **Stielow B, Sapetschnig A, Wink C, Kruger I, and Suske G**. SUMO-modified Sp3 represses transcription by provoking local heterochromatic gene silencing. *EMBO Rep* 9: 899-906, 2008.

147. Sugimoto Y, Yamasaki A, Segi E, Tsuboi K, Aze Y, Nishimura T, Oida H, Yoshida N, Tanaka T, Katsuyama M, Hasumoto K, Murata T, Hirata M, Ushikubi F, Negishi M, Ichikawa A, and Narumiya S. Failure of parturition in mice lacking the prostaglandin F receptor. *Science (New York, NY* 277: 681-683, 1997.

148. **Sultan S, Gosling M, Abu-Hayyeh S, Carey N, and Powell JT**. Flowdependent increase of ICAM-1 on saphenous vein endothelium is sensitive to apamin. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 287: H22-28, 2004.

149. **Sumagin R, and Sarelius IH**. TNF-alpha activation of arterioles and venules alters distribution and levels of ICAM-1 and affects leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 291: H2116-2125, 2006.

150. Takayanagi Y, Yoshida M, Bielsky IF, Ross HE, Kawamata M, Onaka T, Yanagisawa T, Kimura T, Matzuk MM, Young LJ, and Nishimori K. Pervasive social deficits, but normal parturition, in oxytocin receptor-deficient mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 16096-16101, 2005.

151. **Tanaka Y, Okamoto T, Imai T, Yamamoto Y, Horinouchi T, Tanaka H, Koike K, and Shigenobu K**. Bk(Ca) channel activity enhances with muscle stretch in guinea-pig urinary bladder smooth muscle. *Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol* 113-114: 247-252, 2003.

152. **Taylor MS, Bonev AD, Gross TP, Eckman DM, Brayden JE, Bond CT, Adelman JP, and Nelson MT**. Altered expression of small-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ (SK3) channels modulates arterial tone and blood pressure. *Circulation research* 93: 124-131, 2003.

153. **Terzidou V, Sooranna SR, Kim LU, Thornton S, Bennett PR, and Johnson MR**. Mechanical stretch up-regulates the human oxytocin receptor in primary human uterine myocytes. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 90: 237-246, 2005.

154. **Tezuka N, Ali M, Chwalisz K, and Garfield RE**. Changes in transcripts encoding calcium channel subunits of rat myometrium during pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* 269: C1008-1017, 1995.

155. **Tong D, Lu X, Wang HX, Plante I, Lui E, Laird DW, Bai D, and Kidder GM**. A dominant loss-of-function GJA1 (Cx43) mutant impairs parturition in the mouse. *Biol Reprod* 80: 1099-1106, 2009.

156. **Tuteja D, Xu D, Timofeyev V, Lu L, Sharma D, Zhang Z, Xu Y, Nie L, Vazquez AE, Young JN, Glatter KA, and Chiamvimonvat N**. Differential expression of small-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels SK1, SK2, and SK3 in mouse atrial and ventricular myocytes. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 289: H2714-2723, 2005.

157. Uozumi N, Kume K, Nagase T, Nakatani N, Ishii S, Tashiro F, Komagata Y, Maki K, Ikuta K, Ouchi Y, Miyazaki J, and Shimizu T. Role of cytosolic phospholipase A2 in allergic response and parturition. *Nature* 390: 618-622, 1997.

158. Villalobos C, Shakkottai VG, Chandy KG, Michelhaugh SK, and Andrade R. SKCa channels mediate the medium but not the slow calcium-activated afterhyperpolarization in cortical neurons. *J Neurosci* 24: 3537-3542, 2004.

159. **Wang H, and Hirsch E**. Bacterially-induced preterm labor and regulation of prostaglandin-metabolizing enzyme expression in mice: the role of toll-like receptor 4. *Biology of reproduction* 69: 1957-1963, 2003.

160. Wareing M, Bai X, Seghier F, Turner CM, Greenwood SL, Baker PN, Taggart MJ, and Fyfe GK. Expression and function of potassium channels in the human placental vasculature. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 291: R437-446, 2006.

161. **Wood C**. Physiology of Uterine Contractions. *J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw* 71: 360-373, 1964.

162. Word RA, Landrum CP, Timmons BC, Young SG, and Mahendroo MS. Transgene insertion on mouse chromosome 6 impairs function of the uterine cervix and causes failure of parturition. *Biology of reproduction* 73: 1046-1056, 2005.

163. Wray S. Insights into the uterus. *Exp Physiol* 92: 621-631, 2007.

164. Wray S, Jones K, Kupittayanant S, Li Y, Matthew A, Monir-Bishty E, Noble K, Pierce SJ, Quenby S, and Shmygol AV. Calcium signaling and uterine contractility. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 10: 252-264, 2003.

165. Xia XM, Fakler B, Rivard A, Wayman G, Johnson-Pais T, Keen JE, Ishii T, Hirschberg B, Bond CT, Lutsenko S, Maylie J, and Adelman JP. Mechanism of calcium gating in small-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels. *Nature* 395: 503-507, 1998.

166. Young RC, and Bemis A. Calcium-activated chloride currents prolongs the duration of contractions in pregnant rat myometrial tissue. *Reproductive sciences (Thousand Oaks, Calif* 16: 734-739, 2009.

167. Yu Y, Platoshyn O, Zhang J, Krick S, Zhao Y, Rubin LJ, Rothman A, and Yuan JX. c-Jun decreases voltage-gated K(+) channel activity in pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circulation* 104: 1557-1563, 2001.

168. Zhang C, Williams MA, Sanchez SE, King IB, Ware-Jauregui S, Larrabure G, Bazul V, and Leisenring WM. Plasma concentrations of carotenoids, retinol, and tocopherols in preeclamptic and normotensive pregnant women. *American journal of epidemiology* 153: 572-580, 2001.

169. **Zhang L, Fishman MC, and Huang PL**. Estrogen mediates the protective effects of pregnancy and chorionic gonadotropin in a mouse model of vascular injury. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 19: 2059-2065, 1999.

170. **Zou H, Ugur M, Drummond RM, and Singer JJ**. Coupling of a P2Z-like purinoceptor to a fatty acid-activated K(+) channel in toad gastric smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of physiology* 534: 59-70, 2001.